Methanol Steam Reforming for Hydrogen Production

Daniel R. Palo*

Microproducts Breakthrough Institute, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Corvallis, Oregon 97330

Robert A. Dagle and Jamie D. Holladay

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, Washington 99354

Received January 8, 2007

Contents

1. Introduction	3992
1.1. Scope and Background	3992
1.2. Methanol Production and Use	3994
1.3. The Case for Methanol	3994
1.4. Previous Reviews	3997
2. System Challenges	3997
2.1. Balance-of-Plant	3997
2.1.1. Thermal Management	3998
2.1.2. Water Management	3998
2.2. Military Requirements versus Consumer Needs	3998
2.3. Competing Technologies	3999
2.3.1. Low-Temperature Direct Fuel Cells	4000
2.3.2. Nonmethanol Fuel Processing	4000
2.3.3. Hydrogen from Other Sources	4001
2.3.4. Summary of Competitive Technologies	4002
Catalyst Development	4002
3.1. Copper-Based Catalysts	4002
3.1.1. Reforming Mechanism	4002
3.1.2. Composition and Active Components	4003
3.1.3. Deactivation	4003
3.1.4. Promotion Effects	4003
3.1.5. Preparation Method	4004
3.2. Group VIII Metals	4004
3.2.1. Palladium–Zinc Alloy-Based Catalysts	4004
Reactor and System Development	4006
4.1. Low-Pressure Reforming Systems	4007
4.1.1. Metal Reactors	4007
4.1.2. Glass and Silicon Reactors	4010
4.1.3. Ceramic Reactors	4011
4.1.4. Reactor Comparisons	4012
4.2. Membrane-Based Systems	4012
4.2.1. Modeling and Simulation	4013
4.2.2. Membrane Reactor Development	4014
4.2.3. Membrane-Based Power System Development	4015
4.3. Other Methods of Reaction Enhancement	4016
5. Summary and Future Prospects	4017
6. Acronyms	4017
7. References	4018

* Corresponding author: 1000 NE Circle Blvd, Building 11, Suite 101, Corvallis, Oregon 97330; dpalo@pnl.gov; (541) 713-1329.

1. Introduction

1.1. Scope and Background

Recent years have seen an enormous amount of funding directed toward fuel cell research and development based on different fuel sources and fuel cell types. The number of small and large companies that are seriously working on fuel cell development is incredible, as seen in the roster maintained by Fuel Cell Today online.1 One of the most popular fuels in these endeavors is methanol, whether used directly or preprocessed by reforming, partial oxidation, or decomposition. This review is intended to give the reader a broad look at the research and development activities being undertaken by groups from universities, government laboratories, nonprofits, small businesses, and large industrial interests. As would be expected in a research area of this type, where intellectual property is paramount, many of the details and much of the activity are not reflected in the open literature. We have sought to bring together the available published research activities along with what can be found of the ongoing industrial development efforts-which are, understandably, harder to come by.

The number of publications, conference presentations, and patents dealing with methanol steam reforming has grown tremendously in recent years,² as illustrated in Figure 1. The rapid increase in publications from about 1998 reflects the recent emphasis on fuel cell research undertaken by academics, government labs, and industry, and parallels the drastic increase in publications and conferences dealing with fuel cells, including the incorporation of fuel cell symposia within larger professional meetings of the AIChE, ACS, ASM, ECS, IECEC, IMRET, and others.

The purpose of this review is to give the reader an understanding of recent developments in this field relative to other fuels and reforming technologies. We provide an overview of methanol steam reforming from the perspective of catalyst development and mechanism understanding as well as reactor and system development and demonstration. Every application will have its own unique considerations and requirements, leading to different approaches to converting methanol to a suitable hydrogen stream.

In describing methanol steam reforming, we have limited our discussion almost exclusively to what is traditionally known as catalytic steam reforming (SR). Other methods, such as partial oxidation (POx), methanol decomposition, and autothermal reforming (ATR), are not covered in depth but are discussed only by way of contrast. In fact, the vast



Daniel Palo received his Ph.D. in Chemical Engineering from the University of Connecticut in 1999, and since that time, he has been a Senior Research Engineer at PNNL. His research and project management work has involved various applications of catalytic and noncatalytic microchannel unit operations, with a particular focus on reforming of various fuels for portable fuel cell applications. Additional areas of interest include microchannel architectures for heat and mass transfer and chemicals production, microreactor-enabled system development, microfabrication, and the integration of micro- and nanotechnologies. Dr. Palo is currently Senior Research and Development Leader at the Microproducts Breakthrough Institute, a joint institute operated by Oregon State University (OSU) and PNNL. He serves as Courtesy Faculty in both Chemical Engineering and Industrial and Manufacturing Engineering at OSU. He has been honored with four PNNL Key Contributor awards and has over 20 peer-reviewed publications, including one U.S. Patent, with four additional U.S. and two foreign patent applications pending.



Robert Dagle joined PNNL as a research engineer in 2000 after having received his Bachelor's Degree in Chemical Engineering from Washington State University. He later obtained his Master's Degree in Chemical Engineering, also from Washington State University, in 2005. His Master's Thesis was titled Fuel Processing Catalysis for Microchannel Applications: Methanol Steam Reforming and Selective CO Methanation. In 2005, he became a Senior Research Scientist & Engineer. Robert has been granted one U.S. patent, and pending are eleven U.S. and four foreign patent applications. At PNNL, Mr. Dagle has performed research for both industrial and government clients. Much of his research has focused in the area of heterogeneous catalyst development for use in microchannel reactors. He has experience in various catalytic chemical unit operations, include steam reforming of various fuels, catalytic combustion, water-gas shift, selective CO methanation, preferential oxidation of CO, other fuel-processing related operations, oxidation reactions, and catalytic distillation.

majority of the investigations of hydrogen production from methanol have focused on steam reforming, as it offers specific advantages over POx, ATR, and decomposition, especially when considering hydrogen yield and CO production and subsequent mitigation. The advantage that SR has over the other methanol conversion methods in regard to low



Jamelyn (Jamie) Holladay received his Master's Degree in Chemical Engineering from Brigham Young University in 2000, and he has over seven years of research experience. His work involves process intensification and microchannel reactors for energy production. He has worked on miniature power supplies using a fuel processor and fuel cell, heterogeneous catalyst development, steam reforming, semiconductor processing, PEM fuel cells, and battery fabrication/testing. He is engaged in work for DOE (hydrogen production), NASA, DARPA, and other government and commercial clients. He has received two PNNL Key Contributor awards and many outstanding performance awards for his contributions. He has edited a book on process intensification and has over 20 peer-reviewed publications, including two issued U.S. patents and four additional U.S. patent applications.



Figure 1. Publications on methanol steam reforming by year, from 1967 through 2006, according to Chemical Abstracts Service.

CO production does not translate to other hydrocarbon fuels. The reason is that heavier fuels (i.e., those with C–C bonds) require a different conversion mechanism, so SR does not yield the same advantages over POx/ATR for these fuels. Put another way, methanol reforming can proceed through a non-CO-based mechanism, allowing for below equilibrium concentrations of CO in the reformer exit stream given the right catalyst and reaction conditions. This is described more fully in section 1.3.

Military interest in methanol-fueled fuel cells dates back at least to 1964, with the reported work by Heffner et al. of the M.W. Kellogg Company, who investigated hydrogen generation by methanol reforming for use on U.S. Navy submarines.³ Since then, dozens of military fuel cell development and demonstration projects have been conducted, including everything from fundamental research on fuel cell components up to full system demonstrations and field trials. Military interest in fuel cell systems is based on a number of perceived advantages, including silent operation, higher efficiency/energy density, longer run time between "charges",

Table 1. World Methanol Supply and Demand History and Outlook for the Years 2004–2010, Expressed in 10³ Metric Tons (Source: Jim Jordan and Associates, 2006, Used by Permission)¹³

	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
		D	EMAND				
formaldehyde	13476	13969	14449	15034	15363	15869	16414
MTBE	6481	5962	5258	3661	3439	3189	3214
acetic acid	3592	3781	3922	4190	4348	4428	4528
methyl methacrylate	1048	1086	1130	1164	1202	1234	1266
DMT	645	657	668	678	692	705	720
total petrochemicals	25242	25455	25427	24727	25044	25426	26142
gasoline/fuels	1165	1798	1941	3152	4302	5302	5850
solvents	1228	1274	1298	1331	1358	1387	1412
miscellaneous	5486	5745	5926	5723	5740	5711	7477
total other uses	7879	8817	9165	10206	11400	12400	14739
total demand	33121	34272	34592	34933	36444	37826	40881
SUPPLY							
capacity	37367	39556	42500	43439	46639	49439	50739
production	33121	34272	34592	34933	36444	37826	40881
total supply	33121	34272	34592	34933	36444	37826	40881
operating rate (demand/capacity)	89%	87%	81%	80%	78%	77%	81%

and lighter loads. Military applications range from subwatt (sensors) to multiwatt (soldier power, sensors), to 100+ watt (battery charging, auxiliary power), to multi-kilowatt (auxiliary power, silent watch, base power).⁴ In smaller power levels, methanol has received a lot of attention despite the military's desire to deploy one fuel forward. For many in the military, methanol is seen as "tolerable" within this context for small power, because it can be prepackaged and treated much like other nonfuel logistics items (e.g., batteries, ammunition). For some decision makers, methanol is seen as a near-term opportunity to increase deployed energy density over current battery technology while waiting for solutions to come online that efficiently utilize logistics fuels such as JP-8 in fuel cell systems.⁵ Where methanol is concerned, two main technologies have emerged in an effort to fulfill the military requirements for portable power, namely direct methanol fuel cells (DMFCs) and reformed methanol fuel cells (RMFCs). Commercial interest in methanol power to replace or augment lithium-based consumer batteries has also seen the competition between DMFCs and RMFCs, each of which has its advantages and disadvantages. We describe DMFCs and some other direct fuel cells briefly in section 2.

1.2. Methanol Production and Use

Methanol has a long history and is currently a worldwide commodity important in many respects. The first commercial methanol process, based on the destructive distillation of wood, dates back to 1830, and the first synthetic methanol plant was commercialized by BASF in 1923. Since then, methanol has become one of the largest volume commodity chemicals produced in the world.⁶ Methanol can be produced from a variety of sources, including natural gas, coal, and biomass through a syngas-to-methanol route. Alternatively, the direct oxidation of methane also yields methanol, either thermocatalytically or through bioprocessing. However, due to low yields, these processes are not economical,⁶ but increased interest has recently been shown in these alternative routes, driven by a desire to replace fossil fuels and address global climate concerns.⁷

For commercial purposes, methanol is primarily formed from natural gas through a syngas route. Steam reforming of methane produces a mixture of CO₂, CO, and H₂ according to eq 1. Syngas is then converted to methanol at 200–300 °C over Cu/ZnO catalysts according to eq 2.

$$2CH_4 + 3H_2O \rightarrow CO + CO_2 + 7H_2 \qquad (1)$$

$$CO_2 + 3H_2 \leftrightarrow CH_3OH + H_2O$$
 (2)

In the 1960s, very active Cu-based catalysts were developed, revolutionizing this process.⁸ Today, a finely tuned CuO/ZnO/Al₂O₃ composition is used. Most researchers agree that, by using the commercial Cu catalyst, methanol is synthesized only from CO₂ (eq 2) and that CO does not directly take part in the synthesis.⁹ However, CO is involved in the process through the water-gas shift (WGS) reaction:

$$CO + H_2O \leftrightarrow CO_2 + H_2$$
 (3)

Thus, the equilibrium reactions (eqs 2 and 3) must be considered simultaneously in methanol synthesis over Cubased catalysts. The mechanisms involved for these reactions are quite complex, and the literature abounds with discussions concerning detailed kinetic and mechanistic studies for methanol synthesis.^{10,11}

The effectiveness of Cu-based catalysts in the production of methanol naturally led to their investigation in the steam reforming of methanol, which can loosely be seen as the reverse of reaction 2, but with the addition of excess steam to drive reaction 3 to the right. Various catalysts used for converting methanol to hydrogen are described in detail in section 3.

World demand for methanol is driven by chemicals production applications, with the majority of methanol capacity going into the production of formaldehyde, MTBE (declining), acetic acid, fuels, and solvents.^{6,12,13} Total world demand for methanol in 2005 was nearly 32 million metric tons, as shown in Table 1, and continues to rise, as seen in the projected values through 2010.¹³ Over the period 2004–2006, world demand for methanol has slowly but steadily increased, while overall capacity has more than kept pace, indicated by the somewhat decreasing operating rates shown for the same time period. That is, worldwide capacity exists that could absorb additional demand from new applications.

1.3. The Case for Methanol

Methanol is a unique and advantageous fuel in many ways, which explains the large amount of interest in it as a hydrogen carrier for fuel cell applications. Methanol has a high H/C ratio (4:1), equal to that of methane. It is a liquid



Figure 2. CO concentration in dry reformate as a function of reactor temperature. Equilibrium (solid dark line) and reactor results (data points) obtained for S/C = 1.2 at methanol conversions > 95%. (Reprinted with permission from ref 15. Copyright 2005 American Chemical Society.)

at atmospheric pressure and normal environmental temperatures, unlike methane or liquefied petroleum gas (LPG). It has a low boiling point (65 °C), which allows for facile vaporization in roughly the same temperature range as that for water.

In terms of environmental impact, methanol is readily metabolized by ambient organisms in the environment, and because it is miscible with water, methanol spills do not spread over wide areas of open water the way oil and gasoline spills do. An example given by Short reveals that an instantaneous release of 100,000 tons (300 million gallons) of methanol into the sea would result in a concentration of 0.1% within a 1-mile radius, at which point the methanol would be readily metabolized by marine life.¹⁴ This effect is minimal when contrasted to the release of an equivalent amount of oil or gasoline.

Methanol can be converted to hydrogen at lower temperatures (150-350 °C) than most other fuels (>500 °C) because it contains no carbon-carbon bonds that must be broken, and unlike methane, it is easily activated at low temperatures. Low-temperature conversion leads to low levels of CO formation, even if the catalyst provides no special mechanism for selectivity of CO₂ over CO. However, it should be noted that operation at low temperature without a catalyst and at long residence times will lead to high levels of methane, which defeats the purpose of reforming the methanol in the first place. Given a sufficiently active catalyst that promotes the reforming of methanol at high space velocities, methane formation is not a concern. The effect of operating temperature on product selectivity is illustrated in Figure 2, which shows the equilibrium CO concentration in dry reformate (dashed line), based on a steam/carbon ratio (S/C) of 1.2.15 The plot also indicates data points obtained by Palo et al. for a Pd-based reforming catalyst in a microchannel reactor at high throughput, showing the additional CO avoidance advantage that can be obtained using selective methanol reforming catalysts at higher operating temperatures. In this case, the kinetics could be increased 200-fold by operating at 300-325 °C, while maintaining CO concentrations equivalent to those predicted thermodynamically at less than 200 °C operating temperature. The low temperature of methanol conversion is important for system material selection as well as heating and insulation, all of which can lead to a smaller, more efficient system.

While not currently economically viable, bio-based sourcing of methanol is an intriguing possibility. Recent demon-



Figure 3. Freezing point depression behavior of methanol-water mixtures as a function of composition (data compiled from *Handbook of Chemistry and Physics*, 87th ed., 2006–2007, and *Ullmann's Dictionary*).¹⁶

strations, pilot plants, and production plants are producing methanol from such diverse bio-based resources as landfill gas, hog manure, sugar beets, driftwood, rice straw, and paper mill black liquor.⁷ Methanol is most often produced from natural gas, but it could also be made from coal, which represents an abundant resource in the U.S. and has received much recent attention as an alternative to crude oil.

Methanol is miscible with water, which is a distinct advantage in terms of fuel handling in the system. For instance, if water recycling is not required, the fuel can be precisely premixed and prepackaged in fuel cartridges. Even if the fuel is not premixed, the miscibility of water and methanol allows the system to be simplified by providing a single inlet stream to the fuel processor, as well as the use of a single vaporizer. Another advantage of methanol's solubility in water is the depressed freezing point associated with methanol/water mixtures, as shown in Figure 3.¹⁶ For the typical range of operation in methanol reforming (45–60 wt % methanol), the freezing point of the fuel mixture ranges from -44 °C to -74 °C, a distinct advantage for cold-weather deployment of methanol-fueled systems.

Because methanol is inherently a synthetic fuel, it does not suffer from sulfur contamination the way that typical automotive or residential fuels do. This is a big advantage when it comes to fuel reforming, as the system needs neither a front-end desulfurization operation nor sulfur-tolerant catalysts to operate on methanol.

Although the militaries of the U.S. and other countries (e.g., Canada, U.K., Australia) have shown interest in the use of methanol as a fuel for portable power systems, methanol suffers from a major flaw—methanol is not diesel fuel and methanol is not JP-8. The U.S. military has a less-than-fully implemented policy of "one fuel forward", but a policy nonetheless.⁵ For small power systems, the military has seen methanol as an initial entry point for portable power systems that can exceed the energy density of primary batteries and allow the insertion of fuel cell technologies into military applications before JP-8 fueled systems are ready for demonstration.

Table 2. Calculated Hydrogen Yields Based on the Carried Weight (Adapted from Trimm and Onsan, Copyright 2001 from *Catalysis Reviews*. Adapted by Permission of Taylor & Francis Group, LLC, http://www.taylorandfrancis.com.)¹⁸

	indirect partial oxidation		direct partial of	oxidation
fuel	water/fuel ^a	yield ^b	water/fuel ^a	yield ^b
methane	2.8	690	0.8	1470
propane	3.9	1310	2.7	1300
iso-octane	10.1	1220	7.2	1250
methanol	1.0	1070	0.8	250

^{*a*} Water/fuel = moles of water per mole of fuel fed to the reaction system. ^{*b*} Yield = volume of H₂ produced per mass of total fuel/water fed [mL g^{-1}].

Table 3. Fuel Energy Density and Fuel–Water Energy Density for Several Common Fuels Considered for Steam Reforming for Fuel Cell Systems

fuel	fuel energy density (kW h kg ⁻¹)	fuel-water energy density ^a (kW h kg ⁻¹)
methane	13.9	4.3
propane	12.7	3.7
iso-octane	12.3	3.5
methanol	5.6	3.5

^{*a*} Fuel-water mix represents the stoichiometric requirement for steam reforming, defined as a molar S/C ratio of 2.0 for hydrocarbons and 1.0 for methanol.

The tradeoffs among various fuels for hydrogen production are numerous, and decisions are made based on which parameter is deemed most important for the system being considered. From a health and toxicity point of view, methanol is worse than some but better than others. For instance, Short states that, broadly speaking, methanol is safer than gasoline but less safe than diesel.¹⁴ Ingestion is the main concern with methanol, as it produces formic acid in the human body when metabolized. Unlike gasoline or diesel, methanol does not cause vomiting when ingested, so any ingestion that is not dealt with quickly will result in the formic-acid metabolism route internally. Short also cites a study by the Health Effects Institute regarding both liquid absorption through the skin and vapor absorption through the lungs.¹⁴ The conclusion was that methanol's overall rate of absorption was much less than its rate of metabolism, even in a worst-case scenario of exposure.

For large-capacity consumer applications, such as automobiles, any fuel must be readily available in large quantities and have a distribution network that can support such a market. The same can be said for large stationary applications, where infrastructure-ready fuels such as natural gas and LPG are preferred.¹⁷ For other niche applications, where a fuel is likely to be packaged in discrete quantities, other fuels can come into the picture.

As Trimm and Onsan point out, the choice of a fuel and a conversion system is not a trivial one.¹⁸ In their review of on-board fuel conversion options, they compare methane, propane, iso-octane, and methanol for indirect partial oxidation (steam reforming) and direct partial oxidation, as listed in Table 2. In either case, the hydrogen yield for methanol is lower than that for the other fuels, except in the case of indirect partial oxidation of methane. The hydrogen yield was defined as milliliters of H₂ produced per gram of fuel/water utilized.

Another way to look at the issue is on a raw energy density basis, as shown in Table 3 for the same fuels that were investigated by Trimm and Onsan. This comparison of



Figure 4. Well-to-wheels efficiencies for methanol (from natural gas) and gasoline, without accounting for the penalty to polish gasoline to fuel processing grade. (Reprinted from ref 17, copyright 2002, with permission from Elsevier.)

energy density values reveals two important considerations. First, the energy density of methanol is about half that of typical hydrocarbon fuels. Second, the net energy density of methanol is roughly the same as that for the hydrocarbon fuels when the stoichiometrically required water is considered. This second point is important for systems that do not include active water recovery from the fuel cell and/or combustor, as would be the case for some of the simple portable systems under development. Obviously, though, if water recovery were implemented, the significant energy density disadvantage for methanol remains.

A similar analysis by Joensen and Rostrup-Neilsen¹⁷ for onboard reforming applications compared methanol to gasoline on a well-to-wheels basis, as shown in Figure 4. They concede that methanol conversion is less complex than that of gasoline and is thus more efficient onboard a vehicle. However, since methanol requires more energy to manufacture, as from natural gas, the well-to-wheels analysis shows the two fuels being nearly equal in net energy.

An onboard hydrogen production study conducted at Los Alamos National Laboratory yielded similar results as mentioned above when considering several common fuels and the two main conversion methods of steam reforming and partial oxidation.¹⁹ The study included methanol, ethanol, methane, gasoline, diesel, and jet fuel, and resulted in theoretical process energy needs assessments for each fuel. Important conclusions included the following:

(1) steam reforming of methanol required about the same theoretical energy input per kilogram of usable H_2 as that of any of the other fuels considered (145 J kg⁻¹ for methanol, 141–148 J kg⁻¹ for the others);

(2) this energy input was lower than was required for the partial oxidation route using gasoline, diesel, or jet fuel (169 J kg^{-1}); and

(3) the reforming of methanol produced an order of magnitude less CO than the other fuels (0.8% versus 10-25%).

In conclusion, the author suggested that, for onboard reforming applications, methanol was the fuel of choice and should be processed with a combination of partial oxidation (for rapid startup and transient response) and steam reforming (for steady-state efficiency).¹⁹

If various fuels are compared on the basis of hydrogen content, methanol is at a distinct disadvantage, as shown in Table 4. The table lists the weight percent hydrogen contained in the neat fuel compared to the weight percent hydrogen per fuel when adding "free" water as recovered from the fuel cell cathode in an integrated power system.

 Table 4. Hydrogen Content and Reformed Hydrogen Content of

 Various Fuels Likely To Be Used as Hydrogen Carriers for Fuel

 Cell Applications

fuel	hydrogen content (wt %)	reformed hydrogen content ^a (wt %)
methanol	12.6	18.9
ethanol	13.1	26.3
iso-octane	15.9	44.1
propane	18.3	45.7
methane	25.1	50.3

^{*a*} Reformed hydrogen content indicates the amount of net H₂ produced as a percentage of the fuel weight, assuming complete conversion to CO₂ and H₂, utilizing recycled (i.e., "free") water within the fuel cell system. It represents a theoretical maximum hydrogen content for each fuel in an ideal steam reforming system.

This is the opposite assumption than was used to generate Table 3. It assumes a complex fuel processor/fuel cell system in which liquid water is recovered from combustion and/or fuel cell exhaust streams. The values of hydrogen content are calculated based on the idealized conversion of all carbon to CO_2 and all hydrogen to H_2 (that is, no methane production). In the case of a nonoxygenated hydrocarbon, the advantage comes in the addition of two moles of H₂O per carbon atom, resulting in two additional moles of H₂ obtained per carbon atom in the steam reforming process. As a result, a fuel such as methane yields an effective hydrogen content of over 50%. In contrast, methanol has the lowest hydrogen content of any of the fuels listed, whether on a neat basis or on a reformed basis. This is a distinct disadvantage for methanol relative to typical hydrocarbons, or even ethanol.

Because of many specific advantages, and despite some major drawbacks, methanol has its place in the fuel cell arena, even if only in select applications. This is illustrated by the apparently waning interest in methanol as a fuel for transportation-oriented fuel cells compared to the continued strong interest in methanol as a fuel for small or portable power applications, whether DMFC or RMFC based. Ultimately the end users, whether the consumer market or the military, will decide the extent to which methanol is utilized as a hydrogen source for fuel cells, and this will depend on the weight given to the various system tradeoffs when considering which fuel to use.^{5,20}

1.4. Previous Reviews

A search of the open literature revealed no previously published extensive and dedicated review of methanol steam reforming for hydrogen production. This is the case despite the fact that methanol steam reforming has been investigated for fuel cell applications since the 1960s^{3,21} and early 1970s.^{22–24} Some previous reviews were identified, however, that have relevance to the present work. A 1996 paper by Amphlett et al. introduces the reader to the various considerations for the fuel conditioning system (i.e., CO mitigation) for methanol-fueled terrestrial vehicle applications based on polymer electrolyte membrane (PEM) fuel cells.²⁵ The report assumes initial conversion to be achieved by the standard Cu/ZnO/Al₂O₃ catalyst and focuses on the various means of mitigating CO in light of the various PEM fuel cell anode specifications. Another review of onboard (vehicle) fuel conversion in 2001 by Trimm and Onsan,¹⁸ referenced earlier, contains a section devoted to methanol reforming and provides 19 references in a discussion about catalyst formulations, activity, selectivity, and conversion mechanisms. A year later, a review of fuel processing catalysts by Ghenciu²⁶ touched on methanol reforming, citing nine references, but providing little detail. From a materials perspective, researchers at Englehard Corporation provided an extensive review on "material needs for hydrocarbon fuel processing",²⁷ but they dedicated only a few paragraphs and four references to methanol reforming catalysts in a publication that describes several fuels and various conversion and cleanup methods. In 2004, Holladay and co-workers published a review focused on portable (subwatt to several hundred watts) hydrogen production specifically using microreactor technology.²⁸ Since much of the portable power work in the literature has been based on methanol, there is some overlap with this current review, but only where microreactors and methanol reforming intersect. Similarly, another microtechnology review looking at industrial applications of microchannel reactors in the United States²⁹ provides a brief overview of methanol steam reforming as part of a much larger discussion.

Unlike any of the previous works mentioned above, we here seek to review methanol steam reforming progress as applied especially to fuel cell applications. Other similar processes, such as partial oxidation and autothermal reforming, are described by way of background information but are not the main focus of this discussion.

2. System Challenges

The development of a methanol-based power system involves much more than simply the steam reformer and associated process operations. There are specific system challenges that have great bearing on which type of system is selected, how it is operated, how it is deployed, and ultimately how it performs in practice. In this section we seek to bring together the technical challenges related to the system as a whole, contrast the military requirements to commercial needs, and briefly summarize the competing technologies. The focus of this section will be on challenges in the portable power applications, which is where most of the methanol steam reforming work is directed. The obvious need for a methanol distribution infrastructure and related issues regarding government regulations are beyond the scope of this work. Interested persons are referred to organizations such as the Methanol Institute (www.methanol.org) and the U.S. Fuel Cell Council (www.usfcc.com) for more information.

2.1. Balance-of-Plant

Some typical system components for fuel cell balanceof-plant (BOP), along with their availability, are found in Table 5. For transportable (10 kW to \sim 250 W) and stationary systems, the components are readily available; however, reliable and inexpensive components for portable systems (<100 W) are more difficult to obtain, especially for the lowest power levels (<10 W). Table 5 contains a general listing of the components, and it is recognized that specific researchers and developers may or may not use all of these components and may add others specific to their applications. For the lower power applications, the components tend to be too large, too power hungry, or too expensive.²⁸ The old rule of thumb was that the BOP will account for one-third of the mass and volume of a fuel cell power supply while the fuel processor and fuel cell each account for one-third on their own. However, with new developments in fuel cells

Table 5. Balance of Plant Considerations for Stationary, Transportable, and Portable Fuel Cell Power Systems^a

	stationary	(10 kW to 250 W)	portable (<100 W)
fuel cells	expensive	expensive	expensive
pumps	Х	Х	expensive
flow meters	Х	Х	too large, power hungry, expensive
valves	Х	Х	X
air movers	Х	Х	inefficient, loud
filters	Х	Х	Х
mufflers	Х	Х	relatively large
water management	Х	Х	need orientation independence
radiators	Х	X (large)	too large
insulation/thermal management	Х	X	X
hydrogen sensor	Х	Х	too large, expensive
CO sensor	Х	Х	too large, expensive
electronics	Х	Х	X
start-up battery	Х	Х	Х

and fuel processors, this may no longer be true.^{28,30–33} As fuel cells and fuel processors continue to shrink, the BOP may turn out to be the size-determining portion of the system.

The most consistent issue with the BOP components for most applications is that they are relatively expensive. Research has indicated that, even with a demonstrated increase in performance over batteries, many customers may not be willing to pay premium prices for fuel cell systems.³¹ Therefore, it is necessary to reduce the number of components and to decrease their cost as much as possible. For example, design of the fuel processor such that there is only a small pressure drop on the air side of the system would enable the use of a less expensive and more efficient air blower rather than an air compressor. For a portable device, both mass and volume are at a premium. Many of the components are rather large, and further development is required to reduce their size. Multifunctional materials and unit operations will be key to the reduction in BOP component number, size, mass, and ultimately cost. Two additional issues that need to be addressed for fuel cell-based power systems include thermal management and water management.28,30,32

2.1.1. Thermal Management

Thermal management is important because it directly impacts the system efficiency. Often enthalpy balances are used to identify where energy is lost and how to improve the system; however, an exergy analysis has been shown to be more effective.³⁴⁻³⁷ Exergy deals with the quality of energy in addition to the quantity available, and it can also be used to evaluate different forms of energy, such as chemical, thermal, and electrical, on a cohesive measure. For example, Ishihara et al.36 performed both an enthalpy and exergy analysis on a methanol reformer/PEM fuel cell system and a DMFC. The enthalpy analysis indicated that an enthalpy efficiency of 100% was possible for the reformer/ PEM system; however, the exergy analysis revealed that efficiency was limited to <50% due to the inability to recover waste heat from the fuel cell because of the low quality (80 °C) of the heat. In addition, this type of study can be used to identify where other thermal recuperation could occur and also the optimum voltage to operate the fuel cell for the sake of efficiency. For instance, a recuperative heat exchanger for the cathode air could be used to recover heat and increase the system efficiency. Interestingly, when the PEM system was compared to a DMFC system, the analysis revealed that

the DMFC would need to operate at 0.5 V at 600 mA cm⁻² in order to equal the efficiency of the PEM fuel cell system with methanol reforming. Current DMFCs operate at 0.4 V at 300–400 mA cm⁻²,³⁸ which, according to Ishihara, corresponds to an efficiency of 32%.³⁶ Since portable devices will be in close proximity to people, the thermal management is particularly important for safe operation. For portable fuel cells, the device not only needs to be well insulated to eliminate hot surfaces, but also the exhaust needs to be cooled sufficiently that it will not burn anyone. One of the weaknesses of the literature is that the majority of thermal management assumes an ambient temperature of 20–25 °C, but the actual ambient temperatures can reach as high as 50 °C.³⁹ Further development is required in this area for both methanol and non-methanol systems.

2.1.2. Water Management

Most reformers and fuel cells require water. Proper fuel cell performance requires good ionic conductivity between electrodes and catalyst surfaces. For most polymeric membranes, ionic conductivity is strongly dependent on the state of hydration of the membrane.⁴⁰ Strategies to manage water include humidifying the fuel and/or oxidant or using an active air blower to provide the oxidant and remove any excess water.⁴¹ The water for steam reforming can either be carried, but with a significant weight penalty, or recycled from cathode and combustor exhaust, with a potential system penalty. For methanol reforming, the theoretical S/C requirement is 1.0. In practice, excess water is used to reduce the amount of CO produced and avoid coke formation.42 Conventional water recovery uses a condenser and is dependent on gravity for the actual water separation from the gas. For portable and some aeronautical applications, it would be preferred that the device be orientation independent. There has been some development work in this area.43 Condensing and phase separation using Microwick technologies, those using wicks to segregate liquids and gases in microchannel architectures, has been demonstrated in reduced gravity (<0.04 g) and hypergravity (>1.8 g) environments.⁴³ Measured performance indicated that the device was capable of operating independent of its orientation.

2.2. Military Requirements versus Consumer Needs

Both the military and the consumer electronics industry are interested in fuel cells for power supplies. Many fuel

	military			consumer
feature	criticality ^a	comments	criticality ^a	comments
fuel	Н	prefer logistics fuel and fuel flexibility, will accept methanol in some circumstances	L	need to be higher energy density than batteries
operation environments	Н	$-45 \text{ °C to } 50 \text{ °C}^{39}$	М	
power quality	Н		М	
voltage	М	24 V preferred, US Mil Std 1332	L	
noise signature	Н	US Mil Std 1332	М	
thermal signature	Н	prefer <1 °C difference between surface temperature and ambient	L	meet safety regulations
weight	М	must be soldier portable	Н	must be low weight
volume	М	must be soldier portable	Н	must be compact
ruggedness	Н	must be military hard, i.e., survive an electromagnetic pulse (EMP) etc.; see US Mil Std 1332	M-L	
high altitude operation	Н	US Mil Std 1332	L	
air contaminants	Н	must be able to filter out battlefield contaminants as well as regular contaminants ⁵⁸	М	must filter out emissions from consumer environments such as dust, low level sulfur, NO _x , PM, etc
reliability	Н	soldiers' lives depend upon its operation	М	must meet consumers' expectations
operation	Н	minimal operator input required	М	-
cost	L		Н	must be competitive
water management	Н	make up water is relatively expensive	L	can add make up water
efficiency	M-L		Н	-

Table 6. Military and Consumer Needs (Adapted from Bolton⁵)

^{*a*} Criticality is how important this feature is: H = high, M = medium, L = low.

cell providers view the military as a means to get their products into the market place (especially given the higher price tolerance of the military) and therefore are trying to develop dual use products (i.e., products that have essentially the same function in a military or commercial environment, but are generally ruggedized for military use). Conversely, the military often looks to leverage commercial availability with military needs to keep their own procurement costs down. Fortunately, there appears to be large overlap in the commercial and military needs, such as high-energy density (greater than currently available lithium ion technology), low parasitic power, simplified BOP, high degree of safety, and wide power range. For methanol-fueled power supplies, consumer applications range from <1 W to >10 kW, whereas military tolerance of methanol-based fuel cells extends only up to about 1 kW.^{28,44-49} Indeed, there are some advocates of moving to a methanol economy rather than a hydrogen economy, 50-52 and not without reason, since methanol is an excellent hydrogen carrier and reasonable energy carrier, without the storage and transportation issues associated with hydrogen. However, methanol's high toxicity may pose a problem for large scale reformers and transportation uses. This debate will continue in the market and the halls of government, where the current focus is squarely on hydrogen and hydrogen storage.

The U.S. military has a great need for high-energy power supplies and is investigating fuel cells as one way to fill this need.^{4,39,53–55} The U.S. Army currently uses 27 different types of batteries, 16 different chemistries, and 18 different voltages.⁵ The average U.S. soldier in a Rifle Platoon for a 5 day mission carries 9 kg of batteries, not including batteries for contingencies and for personal electronic devices.⁵⁶ Of the batteries currently used by the U.S. military, 80% are primary (single-use) and only 20% are secondary (recharge-able).⁵ The U.S. military would like to significantly increase the use of secondary batteries to reduce battery cost and improve logistics.^{4,39} The power requirements for the U.S. military depend on the mission type, duration, and equipment to be used; therefore, it is difficult to determine an ideal power size for development. Logistics fuels are required for

power supplies over 1 kW in capacity and preferred for generators with lower capacity.^{5,39,57} However, due to the difficulties with high sulfur levels (up to 3000 ppmw), high temperatures required for reforming and combustion, high acoustic signature for most internal combustion systems, and emissions, methanol and other prepackaged fuels are considered for use in military systems to fill the technological gap until systems are developed which can meet military specifications.^{5,39,57} The lower capacity systems are typically divided into two categories: Soldier Advanced Power Sources (average 25 W) and Portable Field Rechargers (150-500 W).³⁹ Although there has been some development in methanol-powered auxiliary power units (APUs) and larger generator sets in the past,³⁹ the logistics fuel requirement has substantially decreased interest in these systems. The advanced power source is expected to be a hybrid system using fuel cells, batteries, and capacitors.³⁹ The power range of this system is close to the laptop power range (10-15)W) for consumers, and the military is hoping to leverage their systems with commercial development in an attempt to reduce acquisition cost.³⁹ The portable field rechargers are expected to be units which can be broken down into pieces to spread the weight among the soldiers.³⁹ Table 6 compares and contrasts the military and consumer requirements for fuel cell systems, and as was stated earlier, there is plenty of overlap in the requirements, though the priority of each requirement will differ between the two types of application.

2.3. Competing Technologies

Across each application space, various technologies are competing for the projected power markets that fuel cells compete in. Methanol reforming sees competition from other methanol conversion methods, especially DMFCs, but methanol as a fuel also sees competition from many other fuels and their associated conversion methods, whether hydrocarbons, ammonia, biomass, or even water by way of electrolysis. In the subsections below, we detail these competing technologies before moving on to discussions of methanol conversion catalysts and methanol reforming systems.

2.3.1. Low-Temperature Direct Fuel Cells

There has been great interest in low-temperature direct fuel cells primarily for portable electronics, such as cell phones, PDAs, and laptop computers, but also for larger applications, such as automotive and APUs. The appeal of this technology lies in its apparent simplicity in fuel storage and feed strategies.⁵⁹ Direct fuel cells process the fuel on the fuel cell anode to make protons and byproducts such as carbon dioxide. Unlike PEM fuel cells operating on hydrogen, there is no external fuel processing or hydrogen storage. DMFC technology has received the most attention, as described by many authors,^{59–64} while other technologies, such as direct ethanol (DEFC),^{65–68} direct formic acid (DFAFC),^{69–73} and direct borane/hydrazine,⁷⁴ are also under development.

The challenges faced by the DMFC technology include methanol crossover; high catalyst usage, which results in higher cost; lower power density; lower efficiency (due to methanol crossover); and shorter operable life compared to direct hydrogen systems.^{59,61-64} Since methanol is highly soluble in the electrolyte and the anode reaction kinetics are slow, a small amount passes from the anode to the cathode, where it leads to a reduction in fuel efficiency and reduces the efficiency of the cathode by causing a mixed potential effect (decreased voltage by 25 to 100 mV, a chemical shortcircuit) and a mass transfer effect (>100 mV, due to reduced gas permeability).⁶⁰ To minimize methanol crossover, the methanol is usually diluted with water (2-4 wt % methanol)either by feeding diluted methanol to the cell or by diluting a neat methanol stream in the cell.⁶⁰ The need to minimize the crossover effect results in either a reduction in power output or increased BOP complexity to control and monitor the methanol concentration.⁶⁰ Much effort is being given to decrease methanol crossover by improving the membrane which inhibits methanol crossover or allows for higher temperature operation to increase the anode kinetics^{75–77} and to improve the anode and cathode catalysts and structure.38,78-80 Current DMFCs typically use a Pt alloy catalyst at a loading of 2.0-8.0 mg cm⁻² on the anode.³⁸ This is much higher than the $0.2-0.3 \text{ mg cm}^{-2}$ for both anode and cathode in direct hydrogen PEMFCs.^{30,81} Even with the higher catalyst loadings, DMFCs have a significantly lower power density (0.06 W cm^{-2}) compared to PEMFCs (0.5 W cm^{-2}) at ambient pressure.^{30,81} Thus, more active area is required to achieve the same amount of power, ultimately resulting in a larger, more expensive stack. There has been relatively little research published on the long-term stability of DMFCs, with results showing a 2,000 h operation,⁸²⁻⁸⁴ which is significantly less than that for PEMFCs, which have been shown to operate for more than 20,000 h.85

DEFCs are similar to DMFCs, in that they use similar catalysts and have many of the same challenges. Their advantage is that ethanol is not as toxic as methanol and that it has the potential for higher energy density, but currently DEFCs have lower power density. The primary research area for direct ethanol fuel cells has been the development of improved anode electrocatalysts.^{65–68}

DFAFCs and direct borohydride fuel cells are more recent innovations that try to keep the advantages of the DMFC while addressing the low power and methanol crossover issues. Formic acid has a lower energy density than methanol (213 kJ mol⁻¹ versus 639 kJ mol⁻¹). The DFAFCs have been shown to have 2 orders of magnitude smaller crossover flux through Nafion than methanol, which allows much higher

fuel concentrations (up to 75 wt %) to be used,^{69–72} and they also have a higher open circuit potential (1.45 V) than methanol (1.24 V) or hydrogen (1.21 V).⁷² However, unlike ethanol and methanol, formic acid is nonflammable, but it is also corrosive to skin at higher concentrations. One of the more significant challenges to this technology is that CO is formed at the anode as an intermediate in the decomposition of formic acid, which poisons the anode catalyst. Although this poisoning is reversible, it does limit the performance.^{73,86} In addition, the catalyst, typically Pt/Ru or Pd/Pt alloy, loading is very high,⁸⁶ ranging from 2.4 mg cm⁻² to 8 mg cm⁻².

Borohydride materials have been used for hydrogen storage, but since 2000, there has been increased interest in using them directly in fuel cells.⁷⁴ The advantages of the borohydride systems include a high open circuit voltage (OCV) of 1.6 V and high theoretical energy density. For example, solid sodium borohydride has an energy density of 9.3 kW h kg⁻¹, which is higher than that of neat methanol, 5.5 kW h kg⁻¹.⁷⁴ For practical systems, the NaBH₄ must be in a solution of typically 30 wt %, which reduces the net energy density considerably. Significant development is still required for this chemistry. For a recent review of direct borohydride fuel cells, the interested reader is referred to de Leon et al.⁷⁴

2.3.2. Nonmethanol Fuel Processing

The three traditional techniques used to produce hydrogen from hydrocarbon fuels include steam reforming (SR), partial oxidation (POx), and autothermal reforming (ATR). SR of hydrocarbons is highly endothermic; therefore, it favors high temperatures and requires an external heat source. POx is an alternative to steam reforming where the reaction heat is provided by the partial combustion of the hydrocarbon with oxygen. The third process, ATR, is thermally neutral, as it combines steam reforming and partial oxidation in a measured ratio. Since all three processes produce large amounts of carbon monoxide, one or more WGS reactors are used. Since the POx and ATR processes are exothermic, they do not need a complex, heated reactor. However, they either require an expensive and complex oxygen separation unit, or else the product gas is diluted with nitrogen from air. Steam reforming is typically the preferred process for hydrogen production, since it yields a high hydrogen content relative to the other methods.⁸⁷ The reader is referred to several in-depth review articles on hydrocarbon reforming for a deeper look into fuel processing than what will be presented here.27,87-90

Natural gas, propane, gasoline, and logistic fuels such as jet-A, diesel, and JP-8 are readily available. However, all of these fuels contain varying levels of sulfur, which must be removed prior to reformation by SR, POx, or ATR, though the sulfur tolerance varies with each reforming method. For liquid fuels, hydrodesulfurization is typically used to remove the sulfur.^{91–94} For gaseous fuels, such as natural gas and propane, sorbents are typically employed.^{91–93,95}

For hydrocarbon fuels, the SR, POx, and ATR reactions can be generalized as follows:

Steam Reforming

$$C_m H_n + m H_2 O \rightarrow m CO + (m + \frac{1}{2}n) H_2 \qquad (4)$$

$$CH_3OH + H_2O \rightarrow CO_2 + 3H_2$$
 (5)

Partial Oxidation

$$C_m H_n + \frac{1}{2} m O_2 \rightarrow m CO + \frac{1}{2} H_2$$
 (6)

$$CH_{3}OH + {}^{1}/_{2}O_{2} \rightarrow CO_{2} + 2H_{2}$$
 (7)

Autothermal Reforming

$$C_m H_n + \frac{1}{2}m H_2 O + \frac{1}{4}m O_2 \rightarrow mCO + (\frac{1}{2}m + \frac{1}{2}n) H_2$$
(8)

$$CH_3OH + {}^{1}/_{2}H_2O + {}^{1}/_{4}O_2 \rightarrow CO_2 + 2.5H_2$$
 (9)

Carbon Formation

$$C_m H_n \rightarrow x C + C_{m-x} H_{n-2x} + x H_2$$
(10)

$$2CO \rightarrow C + CO_2 \tag{11}$$

$$CO + H_2 \rightarrow C + H_2O \tag{12}$$

CO Oxidation

$$CO + O_2 \rightarrow CO_2 \tag{13}$$

$$\mathrm{H}_{2} + \mathrm{I}_{2}\mathrm{O}_{2} \rightarrow \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O} \tag{14}$$

By optimizing the operating conditions and using selective catalysts, fuel processing reactors are designed to maximize hydrogen production through reactions 3-9 while seeking to avoid reactions 10-12 and $14.^{27,30,87-90,96}$

Unlike methanol reforming, hydrocarbon fuel processing typically requires high temperatures (>500 °C).^{27,30,87–90,96} The catalysts can be divided into two types—base metal (typically nickel) and noble metal (typically Pt or Rh based). Due to severe mass and heat transfer limitations, conventional steam reformers are limited to an effectiveness factor of catalyst which is typically less than 5%.⁹⁷ Therefore, the activity of the catalyst is rarely the limiting factor with conventional reactors,⁸⁹ so less expensive and less active nickel catalysts are used widely in industry.

2.3.2.1. Partial Oxidation and Autothermal Reforming. Hydrocarbon POx is being used in many of the larger scale hydrogen production systems, such as for automobile fuel cells.^{18,98-100} The noncatalytic partial oxidation of hydrocarbons in the presence of oxygen and steam typically occurs with flame temperatures of 1300-1500 °C to ensure complete conversion and to reduce soot formation.⁸⁹ A catalyst is typically used in partial oxidation to reduce the operating temperature; however, it is proving hard to control because of coking and hot spot formation.^{18,90,96,98-100} Krummenacher et al.⁹⁹ have had success demonstrating catalytic partial oxidation of decane, hexadecane, and diesel fuel. The high operating temperatures (800-1000 °C)⁹⁹ may make their use for practical portable devices difficult due to thermal management. Autothermal reforming adds steam to catalytic partial oxidation. Partial oxidation or catalytic partial oxidation is used to generate the heat needed to drive the steam reforming reactions in this process. Many of the technical issues of this type of reforming are discussed by Krumpelt^{101,102} and Bellows.103

2.3.2.2. Pyrolysis. Pyrolysis is the decomposition of hydrocarbons into hydrogen and carbon in a water-free and air-free environment.¹⁰⁴ Pyrolysis can be done with any organic material. If no water or air is present, no carbon oxides are formed. Consequently, this process offers significant emissions reduction. Since no CO or CO₂ is present,

secondary reactors are not necessary. However, if air or water is present, then significant CO_2 and CO emissions will occur. The reaction, sans oxygen or water, can be written in the following form:

$$C_n H_m \to nC + \frac{1}{2}mH_2 \tag{15}$$

Typical unit operations required for this system include vaporizers/preheaters, a pyrolysis reactor, and recuperative heat exchangers. One of the challenges with this approach is the potential for fouling by the resulting carbon.¹⁰⁵ Due to concerns over CO_2 emissions, pyrolysis may play a significant role in the future, since it can be performed in such a way as to recover a significant amount of the carbon as a solid.^{104,105}

2.3.2.3. Plasma Reforming. In plasma reforming, electricity is used to create a plasma which provides energy and the free radicals needed for reforming reactions.^{106–111} When water or steam is injected with the fuel, H[•], OH[•], and O[•] radicals are formed with the electrons creating conditions where both reductive and oxidative reactions can occur.¹¹¹ Proponents maintain that plasma reforming offers many advantages, such as lack of catalyst, smaller system size and weight, lower temperature of operation, faster response time, fuel insensitivity, and lack of poisoning considerations.^{106–108,110} The main disadvantages include the electrical requirements and significant electrode erosion at elevated pressures.¹⁰⁷

2.3.2.4. Aqueous Phase Reforming. Aqueous phase reforming can also be used to process oxygenated hydrocarbons or carbohydrates to produce hydrogen.^{112–114} These reactors operate at pressures up to 25-30 MPa and temperatures of 220-750 °C. The reforming reactions are rather complex but can be summarized to follow the reaction pathways in reaction 4 for reforming followed by reaction 3 for the WGS.¹¹⁴ The research to date has been focused on supported group VIII catalysts, with Pt/Al₂O₃ being the most active, but nickel-based ones are also attractive due to their low cost.¹¹⁴

2.3.2.5. Ammonia Cracking. Ammonia is an inexpensive fuel and has been proposed for use for fuel cells for portable power applications.^{28,54,115,116} Pure ammonia has an energy density of 8.9 kW h kg⁻¹, which is higher than that of methanol (5.5 kW h kg⁻¹) but less than that of diesel or JP-8 (13.2 kW h kg⁻¹).⁵⁴ Ammonia cracking is endothermic and is regarded as the reverse of the synthesis reaction. In industry, ammonia synthesis occurs at approximately 500 °C and 250 atm.¹¹⁶

Typical catalysts used in both ammonia synthesis and cracking include iron oxide, molybdenum, ruthenium, and nickel. Unlike synthesis, cracking does not require high pressures, and typically operates at temperatures around 800–900 °C.^{115,116} Even though ammonia has a high energy density and decomposes to hydrogen and nitrogen, there has been relatively limited development of hydrogen production systems based on ammonia compared to hydrocarbon reforming systems.

2.3.3. Hydrogen from Other Sources

In addition to hydrocarbon reforming, hydrogen is produced by many other methods. A brief description of some of the most prominent is included here.

2.3.3.1. Hydrogen from Biomass. Biomass may be the only renewable organic substitute to petroleum currently known. In the United States it is second only to hydropower

as a primary energy source among renewable resources.¹¹⁷ There are a wide range of biomass sources, such as animal wastes, municipal solid wastes, crop residues, short rotation woody crops, agricultural wastes, sawdust, aquatic plants, short rotation herbaceous species (e.g., switch grass), waste paper, corn, and many more. For hydrogen generation, the current biomass technologies include the following: gasification,^{118–121} conversion to liquid fuels by supercritical extraction, liquefaction, hydrolysis, and biological hydrogen production.^{122,123}

2.3.3.2. Hydrogen from Water. There has been a great deal of research in splitting water to make hydrogen and oxygen. In fact, its commercial uses date back to the 1890s.¹²⁴ It can be split into three categories: electrolysis, thermolysis, and photoelectrolysis. Water splitting in its simplest form uses an electrical current passing through two electrodes typically in a regenerative fuel cell. The most common fuel cell technology is alkaline based, but more PEMFC systems are being developed for this purpose.^{124–126}

Thermolysis uses high temperature (~ 2500 °C) to decompose water to hydrogen and oxygen.^{124,127} It is believed that overall efficiencies of close to 50% are achievable using thermolysis processes.¹²⁸ One of the significant problems with this technology is development of materials stable at this temperature and also sustainable heat sources.¹²⁴ Analysis of the different cycles has determined that although great progress has been made, they are still not competitive with other hydrogen generation technologies in terms of cost and efficiency.^{124,128}

Photoelectrolysis uses sunlight to directly decompose water into hydrogen and oxygen, and it is similar to photovoltaics, except that the photocathode and photoanode are immersed in an aqueous electrolyte.^{124,129}

2.3.3.3. Chemical Hydrides. Chemical hydrides are chemical compounds that when heated or reacted with other compounds, such as water, release hydrogen.¹³⁰ The hydrogen release rate is controlled either by temperature (hydride decomposition) or by mixing rate with water (hydrolysis).^{131,132} There are many different types of chemical hydrides, but sodium borohydride seems to be the most developed.¹³⁰ Typically, the sodium borohydride is dissolved in water, and these solutions typically contain about 7-8%hydrogen by weight. To cause the hydrolysis reaction to occur, the borohydride solution is passed over a catalyst, such as cobalt or nickel borides, and ruthenium.131-134 This chemistry has many advantages: it is nontoxic, stable at room temperature, safe, and odorless; the reactor bed operates at room temperature; and it is easy to control the hydrogen generation.^{131–134} Its major drawbacks include the high cost of the material (\sim \$80/kg, which is approximately 50-fold higher than the energy equivalent price of gasoline) and the high energy requirements to fabricate and/or regenerate the material.130,131

2.3.4. Summary of Competitive Technologies

Obviously, the options for providing hydrogen to PEM fuel cells are numerous. The number of sources as well as the number of conversion methods are many and varied, and in some cases, the hydrogen is meant to be produced remotely from its point of use—in which case, the issue of hydrogen storage enters the picture. The choice of feedstock depends on the underlying motivation behind the developer or user. For instance, if reduction of local air emissions is the driving force, then the type of fuel may not be as important as the ability to convert a fuel more efficiently and with low emissions. In contrast, military desire for fuel cells is driven by the need for higher energy density fuels and systems relative to primary batteries. This limits the search to militarily relevant fuels with high-energy density that can be converted efficiently in portable or transportable systems. From the perspective of agencies such as the DOE, the focus is on renewable fuel sources such as biomass and its associated products, like ethanol.

We next turn our attention to the development of active and selective catalysts for methanol, which is a unique fuel compared to the hydrocarbon fuels and, thus, has unique catalyst considerations.

3. Catalyst Development

Since low-temperature reforming of methanol is desired due to its favorable thermodynamics (low CO concentration), much emphasis has been placed on developing highly active catalysts that provide the desired fast kinetics at low temperatures. Most of this investigation has focused on Cubased catalysts, mainly as an outgrowth of the extensive use of Cu-based catalysts in methanol synthesis.¹⁸ However, because copper has some significant drawbacks, including deactivation, pyrophoricity, and high-temperature sintering, groups have sought to either modify the Cu-based formulations to address these issues or develop active and selective formulations from group VIII metals.¹³⁵ In this section on catalyst development, we cover these two main categories of catalyst for methanol steam reforming.

3.1. Copper-Based Catalysts

Methanol transformation into gaseous mixtures rich in hydrogen can be performed in two ways, by methanol decomposition,

$$CH_3OH \leftrightarrow CO + 2H_2$$
 (16)

or by methanol steam reforming according to reaction 5. Though the methanol synthesis (reaction 2), decomposition (reaction 16), and steam reforming (reaction 5) reactions are different, similarities exist in that the products for all three of these reactions are adsorbed strongly on the active sites.¹⁰ While the decomposition and reforming reactions are less studied processes, the latter can be described as a reverse methanol synthesis. Over the Cu-based catalyst, similarities between the methanol synthesis and reforming mechanisms have been shown.¹⁰

3.1.1. Reforming Mechanism

Methanol steam reforming over Cu-based catalysts was originally thought to have involved decomposition (reaction 16) followed by WGS (reaction 3).¹⁸ However, in recent years, there is much evidence to suggest another pathway including a methyl formate intermediate. The presence of methanol methoxy reacts to produce methyl formate, which has been shown to be the rate-determining step in methanol steam reforming.^{18,136,137} While some agreement exists in describing the existence of formate intermediates, involving a direct CO₂ product pathway, there appears to be some discrepancy in explaining the involvement of the decomposition and WGS reactions.^{18,136}

Some argue that WGS is somewhat unimportant, as competitive adsorption favors methanol rather than CO.¹⁸

Others have shown a significant amount of CO to form even when methanol conversion was incomplete.¹³⁶ This indicates that decomposition is taking place as well. It is argued that, while much slower than the reforming reaction, decomposition still must be accounted for in any kinetic model.¹³⁶ Such a model includes two prevalent active sites. One site activates the reforming and WGS reactions while the second activates decomposition. In this mechanistic explanation, decomposition occurs more slowly in the presence of water. Whatever the role that WGS may play in the reforming mechanism, its equilibrium and kinetics must certainly be taken into account.¹³⁶ WGS will occur perhaps to some degree, even before all the methanol is reacted, and to a larger degree once all the methanol is converted.⁹ It should be noted that the mechanism for formation of the CO byproduct remains a controversial topic.

Whatever the source of CO, measures must be taken to minimize it as much as possible for fuel processing applications where CO is poisonous to the downstream fuel cell. Although mechanistic arguments are still in debate, it is generally observed that CO can be minimized by decreasing the contact time, increasing S/C to facilitate the WGS reaction, and decreasing the temperature, which acts to suppress CO thermodynamically.¹³⁸

3.1.2. Composition and Active Components

It is generally agreed that the active component on the CuO/ZnO/Al₂O₃ catalyst for any of the reactions, including methanol synthesis, decomposition, or reforming, is copper. A good catalyst formulation contains well dispersed copper cystallites.⁸ Generally, catalysts with high copper content give higher conversion and selectivities.¹³⁹ The role of ZnO is regarded to be relatively minimal, but it is needed as a textural support in segregating the Cu, which is highly susceptible to sintering. However, promotional effects of ZnO additives on Cu for the steam reforming reaction have been reported.¹⁴⁰ The use of alumina creates a high surface area support which serves to increase copper dispersion and decrease the susceptibility to sintering.¹⁴¹ Just as there is dispute concerning the details for the mechanism, there is also dispute concerning the oxidation state of the active components. It is generally agreed that there is an optimum balance between metallic Cu⁰ and oxidized Cu^I for maximum activity/selectivity and this is a function of not only the catalyst preparation and composition but also the feed and reaction conditions.

3.1.3. Deactivation

Keeping an optimum oxidization state is an important feature of the commercial CuO/ZnO/Al₂O₃. This suggestion alone has allowed researchers to question the use of such a catalyst system in a fuel processing environment where changes in oxidizing condition are of concern.¹⁴² However, the biggest problem with the Cu-based catalyst is the tendency for copper crystallites to readily sinter at temperatures $> 300 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$,¹⁴³ although many claim that the temperature of operation should not exceed 260 °C for conventional copper-based catalysts.¹⁴⁴ For metals, the predominant sintering mechanism in the bulk is vacancy diffusion, which suggests a relationship with cohesive energy.¹⁴³ Hughs gave the following increasing order of stability for metals: Ag <Cu < Au < Pd < Fe < Ni < Co < Pt < Rh < Ru < Ir < $Os < Re.^{143,145}$ In this analysis lies the rationale for why copper-based catalysts are more susceptible to thermal

sintering. This explains why all modern copper catalysts contain one or more metal oxides to minimize thermal sintering.¹⁴³ It should be noted that the Cu-based methanol synthesis catalyst is relatively less susceptible to sintering. Differences include the higher temperatures usually needed for reforming and the differing partial pressures of reactants and products,¹⁴³ with the latter inducing different byproducts, such as methyl formate, that promote deactivation routes via pyrolysis.¹⁴³ It is generally thought that deactivation from the Boudouard reaction (reaction 11) via CO disproportionation appears unlikely. The CO₂/CO ratios are quite high in methanol steam reforming, thus minimizing the thermodynamic driving force.¹⁴³ Sintering of the copper catalyst is also thought to be a function of steam concentration, as well as temperature. Steam strongly promotes sintering of most oxidic metals.¹⁴³ Also, the pyrophoric nature of copper when exposed to air is also a severe drawback.²⁸

Thus, several routes for deactivation can occur on the copper-based catalysts. Copper crystallites are susceptible to thermal sintering or to high steam concentrations. Polymeric deposition can occur, which is also temperature dependent. Oxidation state changes of the Cu⁰/Cu¹ active sites can cause decreased activity or undesired changes in selectivity. Using the conventional methanol synthesis catalyst as a template, much research in the last several years has looked to optimize catalyst design for the methanol steam reforming reaction. The focus has been on improved activity, minimization of CO selectivity, and increased durability.

3.1.4. Promotion Effects

Ceria has been the subject of much research in a variety of reactions, including methanol steam reforming.¹⁴⁶ Ceria has been shown to affect the degree of dispersion as well as redox behavior and catalytic activity.147 As such, Ce-based oxide catalysts have also been extensively reviewed for the WGS reaction.¹⁴⁷ Liu et al. were among the first to report the favorable effects of cerium promotion for methanol steam reforming. Cu/CeO₂ catalysts were compared with Cu/ZnO, Cu/Zn(Al)O, and Cu/Al₂O₃ catalysts.¹⁴⁶ The higher activity of the Cu/CeO₂ catalysts was attributed to a higher dispersion of the Cu metal particles and strong metal-support interaction between the Cu metal and the CeO₂ support. Improved stability was also reported. Patel et al. has recently reported cerium-promoted Cu-Zn-Ce-Al-oxide catalysts to have improved activity as well as suppressed CO formation when compared to Cu-Zn-Al alone.¹⁴⁷ Cerium stabilization was also reported in a deactivation study. It was hypothesized that ceria enhanced stability due to its high oxygen storage capacity. The partially reduced ceria sites formed under the highly reducing environment of the reforming atmosphere produced the mobile oxygen that facilitated the coke gasification to inhibit coke deposition. Additionally, it is surmised that ceria increases the thermal stability against sintering.¹⁴⁷ Cheng et al. reported the promotional effects of yttria-doped ceria (YDC).¹⁴⁸ The addition of YDC to Cu/ Al₂O₃ catalysts drastically enhanced activity. The enhanced activity was attributed to the increase of oxidized copper sites, Cu⁺. These sites were suggested to be more active than the metallic copper, Cu^{0.148} The role of yttria in the YDC is suggested to help facilitate the formation of the desired Cu⁺ sites.¹⁴⁸ However, the addition of YDC decreased copper dispersion, so copper dispersion was enhanced by adding chromium oxide.148

The promotional effects of zirconium have also been the focal point for much research. Yong-Feng et al. reported ZrO_2

promotion to increase conversion and improve selectivity.¹⁴⁹ ZrO₂ promotion was shown to increase copper dispersion and weaken the interaction between CuO and Al₂O₃ to avoid the generation of a CuAl₂O₄ spinel type compound.¹⁴⁹ Szizybalski et al. reported a different metal-support interaction resulting in a more stable CuZrO₂ catalyst when compared to Cu/ZnO.¹⁵⁰ Ritzkopf et al. also report higher methanol conversion and reduced CO formations over Cu/ZrO2 catalysts prepared by a microemulsion technique.¹⁵¹ Oguchi et al. reported enhanced catalytic behavior when ZrO2 was added to CuO/CeO2-based catalysts.¹⁵² Again, changes in the copper oxidation state are the results of a synergistic effect of cerium with zirconia.¹⁵² With CeO₂ alone, metallic Cu⁰ is present, but with ZrO₂, copper is in the form of Cu₂O. A mix of both CuO_2 and Cu^0 was present when supported on both ZrO₂ and CeO₂. Velu et al. studied the oxidative steam reforming of methanol over reportedly active and selective CuZnAl(Zr)-oxide catalysts.^{153–155} The addition of Zr to the CuZnAl catalyst was found to improve Cu reducibility and increase Cu metal surface area and dispersion. Through a mechanistic study it was found that CO₂ and CO were both produced as a primary product and CO was subsequently transformed into CO₂ by the WGS reaction and CO oxidation.153-155

Promotional effects of small amounts of Cr additives were reported by Huang et al. for both the methanol steam reforming and WGS reactions.^{140,156} In the same study, the detrimental effects of Co additives were also reported. It was suggested that while Cr serves as both a catalytic and structural promoter, Co additives increased activity for the decomposition of methanol to CO.

Catalytic activity of Au-based¹⁵⁷ and Au-promoted catalysts^{158,159} for methanol steam reforming has been reported. The use of Au offers interesting redox behavior for reactions such as steam reforming. Additionally, Takahashi et al. reported that Au may help increase copper dispersion.¹⁵⁹ However, other promoters may be more suitable, since Au is not very stable under reaction conditions¹⁴³ and has also been shown to have minimal activity.^{157,159}

Papavasiliou et al. reported the performance of manganesepromoted Cu–Mn oxide catalysts to be higher than that of a CuO–CeO₂ catalyst prepared similarly.¹⁶⁰ A correlation of the formation of a Cu–Mn spinel phase with maximum activity was found.

3.1.5. Preparation Method

In addition to catalytic metal composition, the method of preparation has been shown to be extremely important to catalytic performance. Busca et al. reported the performance of CuZnAl catalysts for the oxidative methanol steam reforming reaction prepared from ex-hydrotalcite precursors.^{161,162} It was found that the activities of such catalysts were more dependent on the oxidative nature of the Cu active sites, dependent on the synthesis technique. Furthermore, it was suggested that catalytic composition had less to do with activity than the nature of the oxidized Cu species. While these investigations were focused on oxidative methanol reforming, the importance of the synthesis procedure can be extended to methanol reforming without the addition of oxygen. Kniep et al. correlated increased activity of copper catalyst prepared from aged precipitates for the methanol steam reforming reacton.¹⁶³ Several preparation methods, including impregnation, coprecipitation, and hydrothermal synthesis, were studied by Shen et al. for methanol reforming

over Cu/Zn/Al-based catalysts.¹⁶⁴ It was found that the preparation method affects conversion and selectivity. In their study, a coprecipitation method yielded the best catalyst. Kawamura reported optimization of the coprecipitation temperature and pH, important in increasing Cu dispersion.¹⁶⁵ Valdés-Solís reported synthesis of nanosized spinel Cu-based catalysts by a silica template technique.¹⁶⁶ Compared to conventionally prepared catalysts, improved surface areas were reported, resulting in highly active catalysts. Deactivation due to coking was observed, although it appeared to be independent of the synthesis method.

3.2. Group VIII Metals

Group VIII metals such as Pd, Pt, and Ni exhibit different performance than copper-based catalysts.¹³⁵ Group VIII metals predominantly catalyze methanol decomposition, reaction 16, transforming methanol to CO and H₂. In the presence of water, the kinetically slower WGS reaction (reaction 3) will occur. This secondary reaction of WGS converts some of the CO to CO₂.¹³⁵ However, a significant amount of CO is produced via methanol decomposition. This makes the use of such metals an unattractive option for processes where hydrogen is desired.

Takahashi reported the addition of palladium to a CuZr catalyst, forming an amorphous CuZrPd alloy.¹⁵⁹ This particular CuZrPd alloy accelerated methanol conversion but facilitated methanol decomposition, thus producing more CO than CuZr alone.

3.2.1. Palladium–Zinc Alloy-Based Catalysts

Cu-based catalysts are active and selective for the methanol steam reforming reaction. However, sintering of the metal at temperatures > 280 °C and other deactivation issues remain problematic, including its pyrophoric nature when exposed to air. Precious metal and other group VIII metals are active for the conversion of methanol; however, they tend to *not* be selective for the reforming reaction. Other options include precious metal alloys, not containing copper, with Pd/ZnO being the most active and selective for this type of catalyst.¹⁸

Iwasa et al. were the first to report that Pd supported on ZnO and reduced at >300 °C has exceptionally high activity and selectivity to CO₂ and H₂.^{144,167–170} Combined TPR, XRD, and XPS methods revealed the formation of a PdZn alloy under reduction conditions higher than 300 °C.^{167,170} It was shown that the reactions proceeded selectively toward methanol steam reforming over the catalysts having the PdZn alloy phase. Catalysts having the metallic Pd phase exhibited poor selectivities to CO₂. Upon alloy formation, Iwasa's group proposed a reaction different than the decomposition reaction (reaction 16). The reaction in the case of group VIII metals, such as Pd alone, proceeds through the pathway in reaction 17,^{144,168}

$$CH_3OH \rightarrow HCHO \rightarrow CO \xrightarrow{H_2O} CO_2 + H_2$$
 (17)

The HCHO species formed in the reaction is rapidly decarbonylated to CO and H_2 , and then partially transformed to CO₂ and H_2 through the secondary WGS reaction. When Pd is alloyed with Zn, however, a similar pathway to that over copper-based catalysts is suggested (reaction 18).^{168,170}

$$CH_3OH \rightarrow HCHO \xrightarrow{H_2O} HCOOH \rightarrow CO_2 + H_2$$
 (18)

The HCHO intermediate formed readily reacts with H_2O to produce a formate species. It has further been suggested that both reaction pathways (reactions 17 and 18) occur competitively over PdZn-based alloys, although reaction 18 is heavily favored, with reaction 17 producing less than equilibrium amounts of CO.¹⁷⁰

It was suggested that the difference in the catalytic performance of these reactions was due to the difference in the reactivity of the aldehyde intermediate species formed in the course of the reactions.¹⁷⁰ Studies in surface science have revealed that the structures of aldehydes absorbed on Cu are greatly different from that on group VIII metals such as Pd.¹⁶⁸ In temperature-programmed desorption experiments, it was found that, on Cu, these aldehydes absorb preferentially in a $\eta^1(O)$ -structure (the oxygen in the carbonyl, C=O, is bonded to the Cu surface, maintaining its double bond). On group VIII metals, the aldehydes absorb as a η^2 (CO)-structure (the carbon loses its double bond and absorbs to the metal surface, as does the oxygen). Thus, on copper surfaces, the aldehyde preserves its molecular identity, whereas, on the group VIII surfaces, the bonds are ruptured.¹⁶⁸ Hence, Iwasa et al. hypothesized that the difference in the original catalytic functions of copper and group VIII metals for the steam reforming and dehydrogenation of methanol is ascribed to the difference in structures of the HCHO intermediates formed on these metals. Thus, the novel catalytic function typical of Cu emerges from PdZn systems as well.

Iwasa et al. expanded their work to other group VIII metals such as Co, Ni, Ru, Ir, and Pt on various supports such as In_2O_3 and Ga_2O_3 .^{144,170} It was found that Pd and Pt both formed alloys with In, Ga, and Zn, improving the selectivity for methanol reforming once alloy was formed. However, of these different compositions, the Pd–Zn alloy appears to still be the most active and selective for the methanol reforming reaction. Also studied was a Pd/ZnO/CeO₂ catalyst which had good thermal stability as well as good activity and selectivity. At an operating temperature of 350 °C, negligible activity loss was observed. Comparatively, a 20% loss in hydrogen exit concentration was observed over a Cu/ZnO catalyst under the same conditions.¹⁷⁰

Work at the Pacific Northwest National Laboratory confirms that formation of a Pd-Zn alloy results in a highly selective methanol reforming catalyst.¹⁷¹ Preparation studies indicated the use of highly acidic Pd nitrate aqueous precursors alters the textural properties such as porosity and crystalline structure, where dissolution is evident.¹⁷² The use of an organic precursor in the preparation method can minimize these effects.173 Pd loading and Pd/ZnO ratio optimization studies were done on Al2O3-supported catalysts.¹⁷⁴ On a Pd/ZnO/Al₂O₃ catalyst, similar activities and selectivities were reported as on a conventional Cu-based catalyst at 220 °C,¹⁷⁴ although, due to higher stability of the Pd alloy, much higher operating temperatures can be used and the increased kinetics can be exploited.¹⁵ Kinetic studies using a Pd/ZnO-based catalyst in a microreactor resulted in a reported power law expression suitable for the design of a miniature fuel processor.42

Other recent work has continued to examine the unique nature of the Pd–Zn type catalyst. Ranganathan et al. suggested that a Pd/ZnO catalyst favored the reforming reaction due to its higher density of acidic sites.¹⁷⁵ Comparatively, a Pd/CeO₂ catalyst, which produced a high amount of CO, had a higher density of basic sites, which favors the decomposition reaction.

Tsai et al. have suggested that the unique catalytic function of Pd/ZnO for the reforming reaction is governed by the valence band structure of the catalyst. This is due to its similar band structure and catalytic performance to that of Cu.¹⁷⁶ It was hypothesized that an intermetallic compound may be logically designed by band structure calculations, replacing a selected metallic element without changing the catalytic function. Activity correlation for a PdZn catalyst was made to a PdCd catalyst.

Suwa et al. reported the performance of various supported Pd/ZnO-based catalysts.¹⁷⁷ While much more stable than Cubased catalysts, deactivation of PdZn catalysts was reported. A Zn–Pd/C catalyst was found to have a much smaller deactivation rate.

Karim et al. reported crystallite size effects and alloy effects.¹⁷⁸ Lower selectivity was found when small crystallites were formed (\sim 1.5 nm). However, these small particles were thought to be metallic Pd that was eventually alloyed with Zn upon increasing reduction temperature, resulting in increased selectivity. Furthermore, it was found that larger PdZn particles did not adversely affect the reforming reaction. Dagle et al. reported similar crystallite effects on selectivity,¹⁷³ where smaller PdZn crystallite size which promotes the reforming reaction probably exists over Pd/ZnO type catalysts. Further reports by Agrell et al. confirm a correlation between Pd crystallite size and carbon monoxide selectivity.¹⁷⁹

Penner et al. reported highly structured Pd–Zn on a mechanically stable SiO₂ support.¹⁸⁰ As evidenced by TEM, the PdZn was thermally and structurally stable under reducing conditions up to 600 °C.

Work utilizing PdZn catalysts for use in microchannel reactors has also been done at the Institute for Micro Process Engineering. It appears that direct wash coating of the PdZn catalyst on microchannel walls resulted in high activity for the reforming reaction.¹⁸¹ Kinetic investigations were made and compared microchannel reactor data to that of a "global model" kinetic expression.¹⁸²

Several investigations of the PdZn type catalyst were made for the oxidative steam reforming of methanol (OSRM) reaction. Concerns related to use of the Cu-based catalysts in an oxidative environment made it necessary early on to find an alternative catalyst for oxidative reforming.¹⁸³ Fierro et al. were some of the first to report high reforming activity and selectivity of the Pd/ZnO catalyst for OSRM reactions.¹⁸³ A discussion of catalyst preparation and characterization accompanied reports of a finely dispersed and highly active Pd-Zn catalyst supported on alumina.¹⁸⁴ Chen et al. reported the use of a wall-coated, highly active Pd-Zn/Cu-Zn-Al mixed catalyst for the OSRM reaction in a microchannel reactor.¹⁸⁵ High hydrogen yields for the OSRM reaction in a microreactor were reported by Lyubovsky et al.¹⁸⁶ Liu et al. reported stability issues.³¹⁰ While Cu/ZnO lost its activity while maintaining a constant selectivity for CO formation, Pd/ZnO catalysts exhibited more stable activity but showed increasing CO selectivity. It was suggested that carbon deposits and surface oxidation break down the Pd-Zn alloy to produce elemental Pd. Catalyst regeneration in hydrogen was also demonstrated.

In summary, the ability to tailor Pd/Zn alloys to mimic the mechanistic behavior of Cu-based catalysts is noteworthy because Cu catalysts suffer from a lower-temperature operat-

Table 7. Conversion Method Options for Methanol-Based Reforming Systems for Fuel Cells

primary conversion	secondary conversion	CO mitigation	fuel cell
low-temperature steam reforming high-temperature steam reforming high-pressure steam reforming	water-gas shift	preferential oxidation selective membrane separations selective methanation CO adsorption approaches	standard PEM PEM with tolerant anode high-temperature PEM SOFC or other high temp FCs

ing window and have pyrophoricity issues. The ability to recreate the excellent selectivity of Cu catalysts in a more thermally and oxidatively robust formulation opens additional options for methanol reforming at higher temperatures and in less-than-ideal conditions while maintaining high H_2 output.

4. Reactor and System Development

Given the foregoing discussion of system challenges, competing technologies, and catalyst development activities, we now turn to the subject of device demonstration and deployment. The vast majority of reactor and system demonstrations to be found in the literature have dealt with small and/or portable systems, such as would power portable electronic devices, battery chargers, backup/auxiliary power units, or recreational applications.

Our discussion of reactor and system development is categorized according to reactor types, which inevitably fall out from the system approach options that are described below. The reactor types are broadly separated in terms of system pressure. System pressure is most often dictated by the CO mitigation approach taken. If a catalytic approach is chosen, which converts CO to something more benign to the fuel cell (e.g., CH_4 , CO_2), the system usually will operate at low pressures. If, on the other hand, the CO mitigation strategy includes a selective membrane separator, a highpressure reactor is required.

Table 7 lists the system options from the perspective of conversion method, purification method, and fuel cell choice. Since methanol is an easily converted fuel, the lowtemperature approach makes the most sense, unless there are other factors that would require deviating from this starting point, such as the availability of high-temperature waste heat to operate the reformer or the need to operate the reforming reaction at high temperatures to accommodate other downstream processes. As a result of low-temperature operation with selective catalysts, secondary conversion such as watergas shift is generally unnecessary (see section 1.3, Figure 2). The next important consideration is CO mitigation. If the reformate is to be fed to a high-temperature fuel cell such as a high-temperature PEM or a solid oxide fuel cell, the CO mitigation step is unnecessary.³⁰ However, since most methanol reforming applications are intended for standardtemperature (60-80 °C) PEM fuel cells, CO mitigation to ppm levels is crucial for the proper operation of the fuel cell.³⁰ The most common CO mitigation approaches have included preferential CO oxidation, selective membrane separations, and selective CO methanation.³⁰ Each approach has its advantages and disadvantages, which is illustrated in the various applications and demonstrations described below. Additionally, some of the advantages become irrelevant given other system constraints-or conversely, some disadvantages become tolerable given other system constraints. For example, selective membrane separations give nearly 100% pure hydrogen, which is a distinct advantage for PEM stack operation. However, if a portable application is constrained

by its lack of capacity to generate the necessary pressures for the membrane, or if material cost is crucial, the membrane approach becomes undesirable. On the other hand, due to this low-pressure constraint, a developer must deal with the reduced hydrogen concentration and finite CO concentration (up to 100 ppm) present in the reformate stream exiting a preferential oxidation reactor, and its subsequent effect on PEM operation. Tradeoffs like these explain why various companies or research groups have approached similar system development targets with varying technology strategies, even for the same power level.

These system approaches have been deployed in various reactor embodiments, with the chosen configuration being dependent on the application. The main reactor body material has usually been stainless steel, ceramic, or silicon. The choice of reactor material is significantly affected by the reforming and cleanup approach taken, as well as having much to do with the background and experience of the investigators. This can be seen especially in the area of silicon-based reactors for small power applications. Since silicon has been the material of choice for microelectronics and subsequently MEMS, groups from this area have applied silicon processing techniques to the development of micro-reactors for fuel processing, including methanol as well as more complex fuels. For systems above about 10 W, though, silicon has not been used extensively.

While methanol steam reforming has been employed for nearly 100 years¹⁸⁷ and has been used in industrial applications for several decades, its application to portable power systems has required more creativity and innovation than is required for large industrial installations. Instead of the conventional industrial reactor that utilizes a large packed bed of extruded catalyst and indirect reactor heating, these smaller applications require better deployment options in order to more effectively utilize the catalyst and avoid the large pressure drops that would result from a small packed bed (with analogously small particle sizes). The new approaches also seek to more closely integrate the heat source (electrical resistance or combustion) with the endothermic operations of methanol/water vaporization and methanol steam reforming. These new approaches are illustrated in the work conducted by the groups described below, taking the form of wall-coated catalysts, interleaved combustion and reforming operations, microchannel architectures, integrated systems, and novel materials that would not be economical for larger applications.

Illustrated in the reactor and system development examples of this section are the various independent and dependent variables for methanol steam reformers. These considerations are listed in Table 8, and they go well beyond the effects of temperature and pressure on conversion and selectivity, with each variable change affecting several aspects of the system. Each group of investigators has approached the subject based on their own application concept and the weight of various tradeoffs. The result is a variety of reactor sizes, concepts, materials of construction, and purification methods.

 Table 8. Independent Variables Relevant to Methanol Steam

 Reforming and the Affected Dependent Variables for Reactors

 and Systems

dependent variables
methanol conversion CO selectivity hydrogen purity hydrogen yield hydrogen utilization reactor size reactor weight reactor pressure drop system efficiency system energy density system cost failure mode catalyst lifetime catalyst stability/attrition BOP implications fuel cell type
BOP implications fuel cell type fuel cell lifetime

As was stated earlier, the vast majority of methanol reforming applications are focused on some form of portable power. Much of this development work has been driven by the military,^{4,5,39,44,45,57,188,189} with an emphasis on powering the war fighter with devices that offer significantly higher energy densities than batteries. In parallel, much commercial interest has driven this area of development, with the most prominent commercial players being Motorola,^{48,190–194} Casio,^{195–200} Idatech,^{201,202} Genesis Fueltech,²⁰³ and Ultracell.^{204,205} These commercial applications include battery replacement or recharging for portable electronics and portable power for recreational uses.

4.1. Low-Pressure Reforming Systems

Because of the variety of approaches and power levels, groups have employed various types of materials and fabrication methods in the production of the reformers that are employed in low-pressure systems. The discussion of low-pressure reforming, then, is entered into based on reactor type, according to fabrication material—namely metals, glasses, and ceramics. All of these materials have been employed in attempts to develop low-pressure reforming systems that provide good metrics, such as small volume, low mass, high throughput, high efficiency, rapid startup, and rapid transient response.

4.1.1. Metal Reactors

Metals such as stainless steel, FeCrAlY ("Fecralloy"), aluminum, and copper have been extensively employed in the production of methanol steam reformers and supporting components. This represents the largest category of methanol systems and includes much of the work in what are known as microchannel-based reactors. As will be seen, the vast majority of devices described are microchannel-based. A more thorough discussion of microchannel reactors in general can be found elsewhere.^{28,29,206,207}

Under a DARPA-sponsored micropower program, researchers at Pacific Northwest National Laboratory (PNNL) demonstrated an integrated subwatt fuel processor based on methanol steam reforming.^{28,33,44,45,208,209} The system was heated by methanol combustion and contained several unit operations (reformer, combustor, vaporizers, CO cleanup) in an integrated stainless steel unit the size of a transistor, 0.3 cm³ in volume and weighing less than one gram (Figure



Figure 5. Sub-watt integrated methanol steam reformer developed at PNNL, without selective methanation (left) and with selective methanation (right). (Reprinted from ref 208, copyright 2004, with permission from Elsevier.)

5).²⁰⁸ Demonstrated efficiencies were measured at 10-33% (based on lower heating values), depending on how the system was operated. The investigators conducted steam reforming of a 60 wt % methanol feed stream at 300-350 °C, heated by methanol combustion. In some embodiments, the device included a selective methanation reactor that reduced the CO concentration to less than 100 ppm.⁴⁴ Along with collaborators at Case Western Reserve University, the PNNL researchers demonstrated the production of power from this reformate stream using a PEM fuel cell based on a phosphoric acid-doped polybenzimidazole membrane, to produce 23 mW of electric power.³³

One of the most important conclusions from this investigation was that even though the fuel processor and fuel cell could be developed for such low power applications, and even have a very low footprint, the necessary BOP equipment that would support such a system appeared to be the biggest hurdle. Innovative methods of moving fluids and controlling the process would need to be employed to make such a system deployable as a self-contained power source.

A series of papers published by the group at Germany's Institut fur Mikrotechnik Mainz (IMM) describes their development of microchannel-based fuel processing components for methanol steam reforming^{46,210–213} and supporting reactions (PrOx, WGS).^{211–213} Early work by this group describes a stainless steel microreactor with dimensions of 75 mm by 45 mm by 110 mm, utilizing a wall-washcoated Cu/Zn catalyst and having an estimated capacity of 90 W (net electric output, based on certain system assumptions).^{46,210} Actual demonstration results indicated a net output of about 30 W, with 65% methanol conversion, and 4500 ppm CO content. Operation at these conditions would not be acceptable in a final system, especially if efficiency is a consideration at all.

Further developments reported by the same group included an increase in output power to 100 W and integration of the methanol reformer with a combustor, and integration of a PrOx reactor with high- and low-temperature recuperative heat exchangers.^{211,212,311} The integrated units are shown in Figures 6 and 7. Estimates of a complete power system based on this integrated processor and including methanol and oxygen tanks and a 100 W fuel cell yield an overall size of 280 mm by 100 mm by 400 mm.^{210,211}

A forthcoming publication from IMM reports a miniaturized version of this concept, with a 20 W net power output, including a dual-stage PrOx unit.²¹³ The group reports



Figure 6. Microstructured integrated selective oxidation reactor/ heat exchanger prototype developed at IMM. (Reprinted from ref 311, copyright 2005, with permission from Elsevier.)



Figure 7. Combined steam reformer/catalytic combustor for the methanol steam reforming system developed at IMM. (Reprinted from ref 212 with permission of ASM International, all rights reserved, www.asminternational.org.)

dimensions for the integrated reformer/combustor unit as 120 mm by 36 mm by 25 mm and the PrOx reactor as 104 mm by 80 mm by 15 mm. Utilizing S/C = 2.0, and operating at 275 °C and a throughput of 350 mL min⁻¹ g_{cat}⁻¹, they report full methanol conversion, 0.35% CO out of the reformer, and 18 ppm CO out of the PrOx.²¹³ This represents a suitable product stream composition for standard PEM fuel cell use, but improvements on the device sizes should be possible and are probably necessary for portable use at 20 W.

In work related to the IMM developments, in that both projects are part of the MiRTH-e program of the European Union, researchers at Eindhoven University of Technology in The Netherlands have conducted a modeling investigation that compares microreactor technology to conventional fixed-bed technology for portable hydrogen production.²¹⁴ The group investigated two reactor types (methanol steam reforming and selective oxidation) for two system sizes (100 W and 5 kW) for both the microreactor and the fixed-bed reactor. The microreactor design was based on patterned plate construction (laser welded or diffusion bonded), where the catalyst was wall coated on the respective plates.^{214,215} The fixed-bed reactor was a shell and tube design with reforming catalyst packed on the shell side of the reactor.



Combustion side

Figure 8. Folded-sheet reactor concept developed at the Institute for Chemical Process Engineering, indicating the staged combustion concept and a dual catalyst bed on the reforming side. (Reprinted with permission from ref 217. Copyright 2004 American Chemical Society.)

In conclusion, they found the microreactor design to be smaller and lighter for both power level cases but that the microreactor advantage disappears as system output is increased. This is due to scaling factors. For the microreactors, scaling factors were generally found to be 1.0 or greater for both volume and mass. On the contrary, and in line with conventional engineering heuristics, the fixed-bed reactor design was found to have scaling factors of 1.0 or less for both volume and mass.²¹⁴ Because of the nature of microchannel architecture, the scaling factor will always be around 1.0, as the way of scaling up is to number up. So, while the advantage of microchannels is an ability to minimize heator mass-transfer limitations, once a certain throughput-pervolume is established, this will hold at both small and large scales.

The integrated reactor concept was also investigated by a group at the University of Stuttgart's Institute for Chemical Process Engineering.^{216–218} The concept, called a folded-sheet reactor, seeks to integrate the exothermic oxidation reaction with the endothermic vaporization and methanol steam reforming operations, as others have also attempted. In the folded-sheet reactor concept, pictured in Figure 8, the investigators utilize an interleaved geometry, where the endothermic and exothermic sections are alternated. Additionally, for the purpose of proper temperature control, the exothermic combustion sections are designed with a staged fuel feed system.²¹⁷

The group conducted extensive modeling work, followed by demonstration of 1 kW_{th} and 10 kW_{th} demonstration devices. In the case of the 10 kW_{th} device, 16 reforming and 17 combustion layers were employed. Testing results over the 5 kW_{th} to 10 kW_{th} range with this device yielded methanol conversions from 70% to 90%, with CO levels increasing with increased conversion, which is to be expected.²¹⁹ Overall, the group found the experimental results to agree quite well with the simulation calculations performed,²¹⁷ but operation of this device should be improved to achieve complete methanol conversion in order to improve system efficiency. Given the ease of reforming methanol, this is not a difficult goal to achieve.

Pfeifer and co-workers at the Karlsruhe Research Center have developed methanol reforming technology based on microstructured reactors aimed at automotive applications.^{181,220,221} Much of the work has been to investigate catalyst issues, but reactor demonstrations are also reported. Using Pd-based methanol reforming catalysts and microstructured reactors, the group has demonstrated >85% conversion at 310 °C using a S/C = 1.9. CO concentrations were quite low as well (0.2–0.5%), but this is to be expected when conversion is less than complete. The 200 W reactors were electrically heated and were mainly used to investigate the issues of durability and selectivity^{220,221} and the effect of washcoating.¹⁸¹

In addition to the subwatt reforming work conducted at PNNL and described above, researchers there have also developed larger integrated reforming units based on similar microchannel architectures.^{15,189,222} Early work described a breadboarded fuel processing system constructed from stainless steel that included vaporizers, steam reformer, and catalytic combustion.¹⁸⁹ The system was demonstrated as thermally self-sustaining after initial startup with electric heat. Demonstration of this system, with the reformer operating at about 350 °C, and using S/C = 1.8, yielded >99% conversion of methanol, roughly 0.8% CO in the dry reformate, an estimated 13 W of power (27 Wth), and a net thermal efficiency of 45% for the base case. The system was further demonstrated over a range of 14 to 80 W_{th}, with net thermal efficiencies of 53-58% for the upper range of operation.189

Subsequent work by the same group resulted in an integrated reformer containing the same unit operations as in the breadboard system.¹⁵ Integration of the unit operations yielded devices with higher thermal efficiency, and the PNNL researchers demonstrated the integrated units at nominal sizes of 20, 50, 100, and 150 W. The demonstrated thermal efficiencies of these units were reported at up to 85% based on lower heating values, and S/C was reduced to 1.2.15 Additional system development saw the integration of some of these units with catalytic selective methanation technology to reduce the CO concentration in the reformate to PEMtolerant levels, such as the device shown in Figure 9.223,224 The group demonstrated this integrated fuel processor at up to 180 W, at about 70% thermal efficiency and yielding a CO concentration in the dry reformate of 30-100 ppm. The reformer technology was also demonstrated as part of a semipackaged battery charger system for the U.S. Army.^{223,225}

Researchers at East China University of Science and Technology have recently reported on a compact 10 W methanol reformer based on microchannel architecture. The diffusion-bonded "FeCrAlY" reactor was heated by an electric furnace in a laboratory setup. Most of the work was conducted to look at catalyst compositions for the Cu/Zn system, and the estimated power output of the device, which measured 40 mm by 40 mm by 10 mm, was about 10 W.^{226,227}

Another embodiment of the integrated combustor/reformer concept has been reported by researchers at China's Dalian Institute of Chemical Physics. Labeled a plate-fin reformer, or PFR, the device incorporates methanol steam reforming with catalytic combustion of (simulated) anode off gas.^{228–230} Figure 10 illustrates the reactor concept, which included packed-bed catalyst for both the reformer (Cu/Zn/Al₂O₃) and



Figure 9. Integrated methanol steam reformer developed by researchers at PNNL. The unit includes vaporization, catalytic combustion, catalytic steam reforming, and selective methanation reactors. (Photo courtesy of PNNL.)



Figure 10. Plate-fin type methanol fuel processor developed by Pan and Wang, indicating flow patterns in the device for reforming and heat exchange. (Reprinted from ref 230, copyright 2006, with permission from Elsevier.)

the combustor (Pt/Al_2O_3), with particle sizes of about 1 mm diameter.

High methanol conversions were demonstrated, using pressures up to 0.04 MPa, temperatures of 210-270 °C, S/C of 1.2 to 1.6, and throughputs of 1200-1600 h⁻¹. Under these conditions, CO concentrations from the reformer were below 1%, except for the 1200 h⁻¹ throughput condition (resulting from increased WGS conversion at the slower throughput).²²⁹ Demonstration of the PFR over time showed a steady 100% conversion level over 100 h, but the CO concentration steadily increased over this time from 0.4% to 1.2%. A second test, conducted on a larger unit, showed a steady CO concentration (1.5% ± 0.5%, higher than the 100-h test) over the course of 1000 h of operation. However, during this same time, the methanol conversion decreased from 100% to 93%.²²⁹



Figure 11. Casio-developed multilayered microreactor: (a) schematic cross-section of the reactor body indicating the various sections, and (b) picture of the device with a U.S. quarter for scale. (Reprinted from ref 195, copyright 2005, with permission from Elsevier.)

Subsequent work by the team demonstrated an integrated system that included a preferential oxidation (PrOx) reactor.²³⁰ The size of the final system, including the control system, was 680 mm by 500 mm by 400 mm, with a mass of 40 kg. Using S/C = 1.5, this system processed 70 mL·min⁻¹, which corresponds to an estimated electrical output on the order of 5 kW. The authors also report thermal efficiencies for this system of 75% and greater.²³⁰

Researchers at the Korean Advanced Institute of Science and Technology have demonstrated a plate type methanol reformer in the 5.5 W range.^{231,232} Using Cu/ZnO catalyst coated on the plate walls, they first demonstrated an electrically heated device,²³¹ followed by an internally heated device based on interleaved combustion and reforming.²³² The latter device was operated at 210–290 °C and achieved high methanol conversion only at temperatures > 250 °C, with S/C = 1.5.²³² However, the CO level of 1.2-1.4% is higher than would be expected based on the temperatures and catalyst employed. This is likely due to the higher residence times, which allow for the reverse water-gas shift reaction to occur to a significant extent.

At the Korean Institute of Energy Research, investigators have developed microchannel-based reformers for methanol processing and demonstrated them at 33 W_{th} and 59 W_{th}.^{233–236} For the 33 W_{th} case, the reactor measured 70 mm by 40 mm by 30 mm and was heated by electric heating rods. While the CO concentration in the dry gas was held generally below 1%, greater than 90% methanol conversion was achieved only at low throughput and at higher temperatures (240 and 260 °C).^{233,236} For the 59 W_{th} case, internal combustion was integrated into the design. Operating over roughly the same temperature range as the previous reactor, methanol conversion was demonstrated at >99%, but the CO concentration was considerably higher, at 2.2% in the dry gas.^{234,235} This higher CO concentration creates significant challenges for any CO cleanup step located downstream.

4.1.2. Glass and Silicon Reactors

Several publications issued by CASIO Computer Company of Japan describe development work on a glass multilayered microreactor for PEM fuel cells for portable electronic device applications.^{195,197,199,200} Figure 11 shows a schematic and picture of the device they developed, which includes a methanol reformer, a catalytic combustor, a CO remover (PrOx), and two vaporizers, and has dimensions of 22 mm by 21 mm by 11 mm.¹⁹⁵ Wall-coated Cu/Zn and Pt/Al₂O₃ catalysts were utilized for the reformer and combustor units, respectively, and a commercial PrOx catalyst was employed. The device also incorporates thin film heaters that are used for startup. Demonstration of the device yielded 2.5 W of electric power, operating at a 280 °C reforming temperature



Figure 12. Electrically heated methanol steam reforming microreactor developed by Casio. (Reprinted from ref 200, copyright 2006, with permission from Elsevier.)

and using S/C = 1.2.¹⁹⁹ Electric heat for start up was required for the first 30 min of operation as the combustor was brought online and the temperatures were stabilized.

A subsequent redesign reported by CASIO yielded an electrically heated methanol reformer measuring 25 mm by 17 mm by 1.3 mm and constructed from glass and silicon (Figure 12).²⁰⁰ The developers found sandblasting to be a suitable technique for producing microchannels in the plate materials, and catalyst adhesion to the wall was enhanced by the resultant surface roughness. The noninsulated device consumed several watts in the electric heaters to yield 1 W of electric power, but based on previous demonstrations, the group expects to rectify this problem. Other future work identified included the need to achieve 100% methanol conversion, increase thermal efficiency, and demonstrate durability.²⁰⁰ The work described by the CASIO researchers has also resulted in at least two issued patents.^{196,198}

This work represents the type of integration and "system approach" that is required for such small reforming systems. It is one thing to demonstrate methanol steam reforming in a packed tube in a furnace. It is quite another to develop an integrated processing unit that is self-heating, is multichanneled, and incorporates all the necessary unit operations such as vaporization, reformation, and CO mitigation, along with built-in heat generation.

Researchers at Lehigh University have developed siliconbased methanol fuel processors at the 8–20 W range, fabricated using photolithography and deep-reactive ion etching.^{237–241} Early work by the group utilized a packedbed serpentine channel configuration employing the Sud-Chemie Cu/Zn catalyst.²³⁸ The device was heated electrically using patterned platinum resistance heaters. Reactor demonstrations at 190–200 °C and S/C = 1.5 yielded hydrogen production of 0.176 mol h⁻¹ at about 88% methanol



Figure 13. Photos of two different fuel processors made by Motorola using the cofired process. In both cases, the catalyst layer is \sim 125 um thick, but the volume fraction of catalyst in the channel differs, being \sim 66% in (a) and >90% in (b). (Copyright 2006, Motorola, Inc., used by permission.)

conversion. The corresponding CO concentration was reported at less than 1%, but no CO cleanup operations were conducted. The hydrogen power was estimated at 9.5 W.

Because of the long serpentine channel design of this reactor, the corresponding pressure drop through the unit was found to be 70–100 psig.²⁴⁰ As a result, the same team developed a new embodiment of the small silicon-based reactor, utilizing a radial flow pattern.²⁴⁰ As expected, the new geometry resulted in a much lower pressure drop through the catalyst bed, and the reactor was demonstrated at 98% methanol conversion and about 20 W of hydrogen production operating at 230–250 °C. However, the CO concentration was significantly higher than previously reported, being in the range of 2.1–3.1%, depending on S/C.²⁴⁰ Significant improvement in the CO concentration would be required for this system to be useful for common CO mitigation techniques and standard PEM fuel cells.

Researchers at LLNL demonstrated an electrically heated silicon-based packed-bed microreactor for methanol steam reforming in the temperature range of 180-300 °C. They conducted extensive modeling, which was confirmed by experiments at very low processing rates ($10 \,\mu L \,min^{-1}$).^{204,242}

Another silicon-based reformer was reported by researchers at Seoul National University in South Korea. The group employed the popular Cu/ZnO/Al₂O₃ reforming catalyst formulation but introduced a new loading method that they call "fill-and-dry coating".²⁴³ Thin film heaters were built into the device, which included two steam reformer sections and a vaporizer. Nearly full conversion was reached at select conditions, and the maximum output of the device was an estimated 20 W_e, with a corresponding CO concentration of 2100 ppm. Drastic differences in device performance were observed depending on the method of catalyst application, with the water-based fill-and-dry method being superior.²⁴³

Researchers at Tohoku University fabricated a siliconbased microreactor for methanol steam reforming, with an emphasis on thermal isolation through suspended structures. Good thermal isolation was achieved, evidenced by a 100 °C gradient from the reaction area to the outer wall of this very small device. However, methanol conversion of <1% was achieved due to temperature distribution issues and reactant bypass.²⁴⁴ The same group reported elsewhere the demonstration of a silicon-based reformer/fuel cell combination wherein the reformer produced the equivalent of 0.2 W at a total efficiency of 6%. Details are few, as this result is reported in the context of a paper focused on propane and butane conversion.²⁴⁵

A separate group from KAIST has demonstrated a MEMS reformer based on glass construction.^{246,247} The reported work is concerned mainly with catalyst properties and issues related to deploying the catalyst as a washcoat on the reactor

walls. In a demonstration, using electric heat, the device was operated at up to 350 °C, with a calculated power output of $0.35 \text{ W}.^{247}$

An investigation of kinetic measurements and thermal integration in microchannel devices conducted at Stevens Institute used methanol reforming as a model reaction. As part of this work, an electrically heated silicon based reactor was demonstrated at 2.5 W.²⁴⁸

4.1.3. Ceramic Reactors

Utilizing their expertise in ceramic processing, researchers at Motorola conducted a development effort to produce a ceramic-based methanol reformer for small electronic applications.48,190-194 A catalytic combustor was integrated with a methanol steam reformer and a methanol/water vaporizer. The reforming catalyst (Cu/Zn/Al₂O₃) was deployed as a packed bed while the combustion catalyst (Pt) was washcoated on the ceramic walls.¹⁹⁰ Thick film heaters were also incorporated into the ceramic structure. A device measuring 15 mm by 35 mm by 5 mm housed a reactor measuring just 5 mm by 15 mm by 1 mm.⁴⁸ The reported feed stream had S/C between 0.95 and 1.05, and the reformer was operated at 180-230 °C. These S/C values and reforming temperatures are lower than is generally reported for methanol reforming, but the Motorola system employed a high-temperature (150-225 °C) PEM fuel cell that could utilize a hydrogen rich stream containing significant amounts of CO and unreacted methanol. It was reported that the sum of these two impurities could acceptably be up to 5% by volume.48 Motorola holds at least two patents relative to this technology.191,192

Recent developments reported by Motorola include a switch to a Pd-based catalyst, including wall-coating of both the reforming and combustion catalysts on green ceramic before firing.¹⁹⁴ The structural results of this process are illustrated in Figure 13. Motorola reports that their Pd-based formulation, developed in cooperation with BASF Catalyst, LLC, could survive the 850 °C ceramic firing temperature with only 12.7% loss in activity. The activity loss for the typical Cu-based catalyst for the same processing conditions was 47.5%, which is not surprising based on the nature of the two catalysts.¹⁹⁴

Like the CASIO example described earlier, this effort by Motorola illustrates the integrated approach to reforming. In this case, the approach was to integrate the fuel cell directly with reformer unit, which is expected to lead to a more compact and more efficient system. Furthermore, the investigation of catalyst deposition on the green ceramic demonstrates an understanding of the need for productionfriendly processing methods.



Figure 14. Comparison conducted by de Wild et al. for steam reforming of methanol in three different reactor configurations: packed-bed reactor, foam monolith filled reactor, and catalyst wall-coated heat exchanger. (Reprinted from ref 251, copyright 2000, with permission from Elsevier.)

A ceramic microreactor was developed by researchers at Yonsei University in South Korea, which incorporated a feed vaporizer and a packed-bed catalytic steam reformer (Cu/ZnO/Al₂O₃ catalyst) in an electrically heated ceramic structure fabricated from low-temperature cofired ceramic (LTCC).²⁴⁹ High conversion of methanol was achieved only at 280–340 °C. Subsequent CO preferential oxidation was demonstrated, which reduced the CO level to about 50 ppm, but few details are given in terms of selectivity, and only 12 h of durability are reported.²⁴⁹

Researchers at the University of Michigan have also demonstrated a LTCC-fabricated methanol steam reformer. The group coupled two LTCC devices together, one for methanol steam reforming using a Cu-based catalyst and the other for hydrogen combustion with a Pt-based catalyst to heat the reformer. Performance in this wall-coated device was found to be similar to that of a packed-bed reactor.²⁵⁰ It would be expected, then, that the wall-coated device would yield a lower pressure drop for the same performance—a distinct advantage in practice.

4.1.4. Reactor Comparisons

A comparison of catalyst deployment options was conducted by researchers at The Netherlands Energy Research Foundation for the case of methanol reforming with Cu-based catalyst in the multi-kilowatt power range.²⁵¹ They compared three different reactor options-packed bed, monolith foam, and washcoated channel-and the results are shown in Figure 14. Due to enhanced heat transfer, the foam and washcoat configurations showed much higher weight-specific activities than the packed bed, and the washcoated reactor achieved >95% conversion at a temperature 50 °C less than was required for the packed bed. However, a 150-h test showed that the foam and washcoat deactivated much more rapidly, losing 10% and 15% of their conversion, respectively. During the same period, the packed bed saw a conversion decrease of only 1.5%.²⁵¹ The results of this study demonstrate the kinds of tradeoffs that are often pondered by developers of portable catalytic reactors. From a pressure drop standpoint, the washcoated wall would be favored; from a shock and vibration standpoint, the monolith might be favored; and from a simplicity of catalyst manufacturing standpoint, the packed bed might be favored. However, each of these methods of catalyst deployment has its disadvantages, such as keeping a packed bed in place, avoiding reactant bypass when using a monolith foam, and dealing with flaking or attrition when using a washcoated wall. As was mentioned earlier, which disadvantages can be tolerated and which advantages are most desired will depend on the application in terms of duty cycle, price point, operator training, and expected device lifetime.

Researchers from Nippon Telegraph and Telephone Corporation conducted a similar comparison between a platefin type reactor and a packed bed for the reforming of methanol with a Cu-based catalyst.²⁵² The comparison was made between two reactors constructed of aluminum, with the same overall dimensions, and each containing a steam reforming side and a catalytic combustion side. The plate-fin type reactor was found to have a 28% shorter startup time, a 16-fold higher heat transfer coefficient, and only one-ninth of the catalyst volume relative to the packed bed.²⁵²

In the area of small glass-based reactors, Datye and coworkers at the University of New Mexico have conducted extensive studies comparing wall-coated and packed-bed catalyst arrangements in quartz tube reactors for methanol reforming.^{253–255} The group not only demonstrated good adhesion of a catalyst coating to a nonporous wall,²⁵³ but also quantified the difference between wall-coated and packed-bed reactors, revealing that packed-bed reactor diameters in excess of 300 μ m would suffer from significant thermal gradients.^{254,255} In contrast, their wall-coated reactors up to 4.1 mm diameter suffered from neither heat transfer nor mass transfer issues, and as others have shown, the wallcoated catalyst demonstrates higher specific activity than typical packed-bed catalysts.²⁵⁵

An interesting comparison was conducted by Samms and Savinell at Case Western Reserve University, where methanol reforming in an idealized plug flow reactor was compared to the same reaction in an internal reforming fuel cell (IRFC).²⁵⁶ Despite lower catalyst utilization in the IRFC, mainly due to nonuniform flow, the researchers verified that consumption of H₂ by the fuel cell actually accelerates the methanol conversion, leading to an overall reduced catalyst requirement for the IRFC compared to an external reformer.²⁵⁶ This is similar to the effect seen when utilizing a selective membrane to remove hydrogen during reforming operations, and this is described in the next section.

4.2. Membrane-Based Systems

Membrane-based methanol reforming systems have been extensively demonstrated by several research and development organizations. These systems offer a number of advantages over the low-pressure systems that employ catalytic CO mitigation. They've been shown to require less sophisticated temperature and pressure control than their catalytic counterparts,²⁵⁷ and they provide a hydrogen stream that is nearly 100% pure, allowing for dead-ended operation of the fuel cell anode and eliminating the poisoning effects of CO and methanol, and the dilution effects of CO₂, CH₄, and other byproducts. All of this adds up to higher hydrogen utilization in the fuel cell. Also, because of the physical removal of H₂ from the reactor zone, the exact CO selectivity in the reformer is not quite as important, except as it relates to H_2 yield by reaction 5. Additionally, the continuous removal of H₂ from the reaction mixture can result in any number of advantages, including higher conversion, higher



Figure 15. Geometries used by Basile et al. in their modeling work for methanol steam reforming, showing two cocurrent geometries (a and b) and one countercurrent geometry (c). (Reprinted from ref 261, copyright 2006, with permission from Elsevier.)

selectivity, lower operating temperatures, and reduced catalyst requirements.

Membrane reactors also have their drawbacks, namely the requirement to operate at high pressure and the oftenencountered fragile nature of thin metal foils, which are also quite expensive. Steam reforming helps to alleviate this first requirement, in that only liquids need to be fed at the membrane working pressure. This at least avoids the need for air compressors, which can be heavy, noisy, and highly parasitic. The second issue has been investigated by many groups, but deployment of membrane-based systems is the ultimate test of Pd and Pd-alloy membrane durability. Additionally, membrane-based systems have tended to be quite heavy, but this issue is being addressed as well, as seen by the demonstration activities reported by companies like Idatech and Genesis, described below. Finally, cost is a potential barrier for membrane-based systems entering the marketplace. With Pd being intrinsically expensive, the need to operate very thin membranes reliably is crucial, and much progress has been made in the area of thin Pd membrane durability. Ultimately, the higher cost of a Pd membrane needs to be weighed against the advantages that membranebased systems provide. In recent years, most methanol reforming demonstration units have been membrane-based, mainly for the advantageous reasons listed above, and in spite of the higher cost and increased weight that the membrane units impose on the system. The general approach tends to be aimed at first getting demonstration units in front of the potential users as quickly as possible and then addressing the cost and weight issues as interest in these applications increases.

For a general review of Pd membrane reactors, the interested reader is directed to the extensive review of Paglieri and Way,²⁵⁸ especially section 3 and references therein. In the following subsections, we detail the progress achieved and demonstrations conducted by various research and development groups in this well-researched approach to methanol utilization.

4.2.1. Modeling and Simulation

Some of the earliest high-pressure methanol reforming and Pd membrane separation work was that conducted by researchers at the W. H. Kellogg Company and reported at the 1964 American Chemical Society meeting.³ With application to a U.S. Navy submarine, they designed a hydrogen generating system at 9.1 kg h⁻¹ (200 kW) with a maximum output of 31.8 kg h⁻¹ (700 kW). The design incorporated a Pd/Ag membrane unit and an undetermined methanol conversion catalyst. Overall, they estimated the system to provide energy densities of 2.2 kW h kg⁻¹ and 1962 kW h m⁻³. Suggested follow-on work included development of a suitable catalyst, providing a throughput of ~2000 h⁻¹ and a useful life of 240 h, both of which have been exceeded in subsequent work by various groups.

Basile and co-workers have conducted extensive modeling and experimental work on methanol reforming in membrane reactors. In their initial simulation work, they sought to fill some gaps they had identified in the literature, namely the analysis of membrane-based methanol reformers according to variables other than temperature and pressure.²⁵⁹ The Basile group compared membrane reactors and traditional packed-bed reactors by investigating the parameters of temperature, pressure, time factor (residence time), feed S/C, and sweep gas flow rate. The membrane was a Pd/Ag alloy with a thickness of 50 μ m. At any given condition, the membrane reactor was found to be superior to the traditional reactor in terms of conversion, selectivity, and productivity, all of which are driven by the constant removal of product hydrogen from the reactor zone.²⁵⁹ These results were later confirmed by experimental studies comparing the two types of reactors²⁶⁰ and further refined by the use of counter-current sweep gas operation, as illustrated in Figure 15(c) along with two cocurrent geometries, (a) and (b).²⁶¹

Previous work by Itoh et al. sought to address the backpermeation effect that occurs at the front end of the reforming bed in membrane reactors, as illustrated in Figure 16.²⁶² This issue arises from a reverse concentration gradient that develops due to low hydrogen production at the beginning of the reformer bed. Using simulation and experimental studies, Itoh concluded the best hydrogen recovery option was the use of a sweep gas in co-flow orientation. However, this introduces the disadvantage of diluting the permeate hydrogen, and this is not a practical solution for most nonstationary applications.



Figure 16. Illustration of the back-permeation phenomenon that occurs in membrane reactors, where a reverse hydrogen concentration gradient develops at the inlet side of the reactor. (Reprinted with permission from ref 262. Copyright 2002 American Chemical Society.)

In additional work, the Basile group began looking at the effect of adding small amounts of oxygen to the reformer feed, a process known as oxidative steam reforming. They found that such operation could increase methanol conversion and hydrogen production and reduce CO selectivity.^{263,264}

A modeling study by Nair and Harold agrees with previously reported comparisons where the membrane reactor provides enhanced conversion and productivity relative to a conventional packed-bed reactor.²⁶⁵ Their study investigated parameters such as particle size, membrane thickness, space velocity, and surface-to-volume ratio at 260 °C and 10 atm. They found a tradeoff between hydrogen utilization and overall productivity. Additionally, they found catalyst particle size, membrane thickness, and membrane surface-to-volume ratio to be coupled and thus subject to a variety of tradeoffs, such that the controlling factor varied depending on the relative values of these three parameters.²⁶⁵

4.2.2. Membrane Reactor Development

Researchers at the Research Center Julich have demonstrated a packed-bed reformer based on a tube-in-tube design operating at 3.8 bar, and they have quantified many of the relevant parameters for such a system in automotive applications.^{266–270} The reactors they describe are meant to be supported by downstream Pd membrane separation of the hydrogen from the reformate, but the focus of the work has been on the catalyst issues. Working with partners Haldor-Topsoe A/S and Siemens AG, Julich quantified catalyst deactivation issues, especially in light of required lifetimes of 3000 h or more.^{269,270} Additional investigations quantified the relationship of CO formation to extent of methanol conversion^{267,269} and highlighted the sometimes conflicting boundary conditions faced by commercial applications of this sort, such as cost ceilings, required yields, high rates, dynamic response, partial load behavior, and catalyst lifetime.²⁶⁷ They found considerable deactivation (linear) of the copper-based catalyst, with most of the losses occurring on the inlet end of the bed. Accounting for such deactivation, and sizing the reactor bed accordingly, they projected the possibility of a 4000 h lifetime with no more than 20% loss relative to original performance.269,270

Lin and co-workers also found significant rate improvements in membrane reactors relative to traditional packedbed reactors.²⁷¹ They demonstrated an integrated unit, heated by combustion of the membrane retentate, and measured up



Figure 17. Integrated membrane reactor module (a) and multimodule (b) developed by Han et al. for methanol steam reforming at up to 10 kW power output. (Reprinted from ref 277, copyright 2002, with permission from Elsevier.)

to 74% efficiency and up to 70% hydrogen yield.²⁷² Other experiments demonstrated up to 97% hydrogen yield, but such operation does not leave enough combustion fuel to thermally sustain the integrated unit. Operation at about 74% hydrogen recovery was found to provide a system energy balance.²⁷³

Mechanistically, they theorize that a reverse spillover mechanism is responsible for the improved reaction rates obtained in Pd membrane reactors containing Cu-based catalysts. In essence, the newly formed hydrogen from the reforming reaction is able to migrate directly from the active Cu site to the Pd membrane surface.²⁷⁴ Such mechanistic studies of Pd membrane reactors are beyond the scope of this discussion, but the interested reader is referred to the subsequent work by Rei et al.²⁷⁵

Han and co-workers at SK Corporation have demonstrated several integrated membrane reactors for processing methanol. Their first reported unit was a 2-kW device with an 89% thermal efficiency (based on *higher* heating values)²⁷⁶ and a power density of about 0.77 kW L⁻¹.²⁷⁶ Similar to the work of Lin, they operated their devices at about 75% hydrogen recovery to achieve thermal energy balance within the system.²⁷⁷ A second generation device, this time operating at 10 kW, was demonstrated and is shown in Figure 17.

More recently, Han et al. demonstrated a nominal 25-kW unit operating at 70–75% recovery and about 75% thermal efficiency.²⁷⁸ Peak production on the reformer unit was up to 40 kW electric. The device is planned for demonstration with a PEM stack (Hyundai Motors) and eventual integration into a hybrid vehicle.²⁷⁸

Buxbaum details the advantages of membrane reactors, with specific reference to methanol steam reforming. In addition to the removal of pure hydrogen from the reactor, he further claims that temperature management can be enhanced through the inherent counter-current flow of a shell-and-tube design and that pressure can be used to drive a reaction that would not otherwise benefit from increased pressure operation.^{279,280} REB Research offers several membrane reactors for purchase, as well as complete hydrogen generators for lab/stationary use, based on methanol reforming.²⁸¹

Methanol Steam Reforming for Hydrogen Production



Figure 18. Schematic diagram of the cross-sectional structure of the Pt-loaded microporous membrane developed by Lee et al. (Reprinted from ref 284, copyright 2006, with permission from Elsevier.)

Wieland and co-workers compared three different Pd alloy membranes, Pd/Ag, Pd/Cu, and Pd/V/Pd.²⁵⁷ Pd/V/Pd was found to have high permeation rates but suffered from instability and could not be tested above 6 bar due to failure. The Pd/Cu membrane was found to be much more stable but exhibited the lowest permeation of the three.²⁵⁷ The group also found the presence of CO or methanol to significantly affect the hydrogen flux, decreasing it by up to 70%, a phenomenon also reported by Arstad et al. for Pd/Ag membranes.²⁸² The decrease is ascribed to competitive adsorption by CO or methanol-a process that is reversible but is problematic for systems of this sort that inevitably contain significant concentrations of both CO and methanol. Wieland further reports methanol steam reforming conversion in excess of the equilibrium prediction due to removal of the product hydrogen. However, this was only observed at pressures above 20 bar.257

Recent work reported by Zhang et al. describes the use of a carbon membrane reactor in much the same way as Pdbased membrane reactors.²⁸³ The carbon membrane was used as a 6-mm i.d. tube with a wall thickness of $20-30 \,\mu\text{m}$ and sealed inside a stainless steel tube. As expected, methanol conversion was higher for the membrane reactor compared to the fixed-bed reactor over the temperature range 200- $250 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$, but the H₂, CO₂, and CO yields were virtually the same. The data were obtained at very low throughput (1.0 h⁻¹), with S/C = 1.5 and a reactor pressure of 0.2 MPa. The authors report a permeate stream consisting of 96.9–97.6% H₂ and 2.4–3.1% CO₂ with "almost no CO", but the CO levels were not quantitatively reported.

Lee and co-workers have developed a membrane reactor based on Pt-loaded microporous silica supported on porous stainless steel, as illustrated in Figure 18.²⁸⁴ While the device showed significant improvement in conversion and a high H₂/CO selectivity, the net hydrogen recovery was very low, ranging from 2.8% to 9.1% depending on the type of membrane used. The authors speculated that use of mesoporous membranes would increase hydrogen permeability but would also result in decreased CO removal efficiency.²⁸⁴

A comparison of Cu, Ni, and Ru reforming catalysts by Kikuchi et al. demonstrated that Ni-based catalysts had the most stable activity but suffered from the methanation side reaction. However, they found that operation within the Pd membrane reactor suppressed methanation for this catalyst and led to a higher hydrogen yield than the Cu or Ru catalyst systems.²⁸⁵ They reported deactivation of the Cu catalyst at >200 °C and of the Ru catalyst at >250 °C, while the Ni catalyst remained stable up to 450 °C.



Figure 19. A command and control combat vehicle with a 2kW Idatech fuel cell APU mounted on the front portion of the roof. (Reprinted from ref 39, copyright 2004, with permission from Elsevier.)



Figure 20. IdaTech's iGen Fuel Cell System generates 250 W at 12/24 VDC using a methanol/water mixture in a fully automated system about the size of two lunch boxes. (Copyright 2002–2006, Idatech, LLC, used by permission.)

4.2.3. Membrane-Based Power System Development

Developers at Idatech, LLC (formerly Northwest Power Systems, LLC) have been reporting on fuel processors and complete power systems based on methanol reforming since as early as 1997^{286,287} and have developed an extensive patent portfolio around their systems, which incorporate high-pressure reforming with metal membrane purification of the hydrogen.^{288–291} The Idatech reformer is a compact, integrated unit that includes a packed-bed steam reformer coupled with internal combustion and a selective membrane made of a proprietary Pd alloy. Downstream of the membrane, they have also included a catalytic methanation bed that catalytically removes any trace CO that may pass through the membrane.^{286,290}

U.S. Army CERDEC reported in 2004 the demonstration of an Idatech unit operating on methanol/water and providing 2 kW for a silent watch application.³⁹ The unit was somewhat ruggedized and mounted on top of a command and control combat vehicle (see Figure 19), where it was used in somewhat realistic environments of wind, dust, cold, heat, and vibration.

While most of the early work conducted by Idatech was focused on multi-kilowatt systems, more recently they have demonstrated a 250 W unit for battery charging applications for the U.S. military.²⁰² The complete device (Figure 20), containing the integrated reformer, fuel cell, and balance of plant, measures 36 cm by 50 cm by 16 cm and provides 250 W continuous output at 12 or 24 VDC with an estimated fuel consumption rate of 500 mL h⁻¹. The fuel processor module is reported to have nearly 2000 h of operational time

demonstrated, including 229 thermal cycles. Extensive balance-of-plant validation has also been conducted by Idatech, showing thousands of operating hours and hundreds of on/ off cycles for components such as cooling fans, air pumps, liquid pumps, and solenoid valves.²⁰² According to an Idatech product brochure, the iGen device operates on a 64 wt % methanol solution, can start up in less than 10 min, and can operate at -22 to $122 \,^{\circ}\text{F}$ (-30 to 50 $^{\circ}\text{C}$). At full load (250 W net), the device consumes 9 mL min⁻¹ of fuel, which translates to a net fuel-to-electricity efficiency of 15% based on the lower heating value of methanol.

In the late 1990s, Ledjeff-Hey and co-workers reported their demonstration of a Pd-based membrane reactor utilizing the standard Cu-based reforming catalyst.²⁹² They described an integrated device that included the vaporizer, reformer, membrane, and catalytic burner in a package measuring 14 cm diameter and 60 cm long and weighing 15.5 kg. The commercial Pd/Ag membrane they employed was 7.5 mm thick—much thicker than most membranes recently reported. Operation of the device over a range of temperatures demonstrated between 40% and 62% hydrogen recovery at 5 atm. Increased pressure (7 atm) yielded higher recovery rates and a maximum overall efficiency of 54%, with some identified areas for improvement on thermal performance. Due to leakage issues, the permeate contained between 50 and 80 ppm CO and from 500 to 750 ppm CO₂.²⁹²

Development work reported by Genesis Fueltech, Inc. includes a reforming system that produces 20 slpm of H₂ $(3.6 \text{ kW}_{\text{th}})$ in an integrated unit that measures 45 cm by 20 cm by 46 cm and weighs 22.7 kg.²⁰³ The net thermal efficiency of the fuel processor ranges from $\sim 20\%$ at low outputs to over 75% at high outputs, based on LHVs. They further report 0-100% output capacity with rapid transition between output levels. Genesis reports development of a proprietary methanol reforming catalyst that replaces the typical Cu/ZnO formula. This provides better high-temperature operation (390-450 °C) to more closely integrate with the membrane temperature, and they report 13,000 h of reformer operation without degradation.²⁰³ The reformer operates at 150 psig and uses 150 mL of catalyst at the 20 slpm design level. Integrated heat exchange provides a 100 °C exhaust temperature despite reformer bed operation at ~ 400 °C. The reported air-side pressure drop through the burner is 0.2-1.0 in. of water,²⁹³ which is a major consideration for integrated systems, as every parasitic load must be absorbed by the fuel cell gross power output, reducing the overall efficiency of the device.

4.3. Other Methods of Reaction Enhancement

In addition to catalysis, thermal heating, and membrane separations, some groups have investigated other methods of enhancing the methanol steam reforming reaction. This includes methods such as acoustic field application, microwave-enhanced heating, plasma reforming, supercritical reforming, and the liquid-phase reaction, as detailed below. In some cases, the method is meant to enhance the rate of reaction. In others, such as liquid-phase reforming, the product selectivity is enhanced.

Recently, Erickson demonstrated the enhancement of reaction rate in a catalytic methanol steam reformer by applying a controlled acoustic field to the reactor.²⁹⁴ The enhancement of rate was more pronounced at higher throughput, while the rate enhancement was almost negligible at low throughput.



Figure 21. Experimental setup for nonequilibrium pulsed discharge reforming of methanol. (Reprinted with permission from ref 296. Copyright 2004 American Chemical Society.)

Perry and co-workers demonstrated through modeling and experimental investigations that the use of microwave energy could provide a more uniform temperature distribution in a packed-bed methanol steam reformer.²⁹⁵ In essence, the even heating provided by the microwave energy avoided the common convective and conductive limitations that often result in cold spots in an endothermically operating packed-bed reactor. This is definitely an intriguing concept but requires the integrated generation of microwave power for the system.

The use of plasma to conduct methanol reforming reactions without catalyst was investigated by Sekine et al.²⁹⁶ as well as Futamura and Kabashima.^{297,298} While the work of Sekine et al., illustrated in Figure 21, demonstrated the use of pulsed discharges for reforming a variety of fuels, and both groups demonstrated conversion at low temperatures, both demonstrations yielded very high CO concentrations in the methanol reformate—much higher than expected from thermodynamic equilibrium, and a great disadvantage relative to catalytic routes. This is not unexpected, as, without a catalyst present, the reaction proceeds through very nonselective means. Similar behavior is observed when noncatalytic methanol reforming or methanol decomposition reactions are conducted thermally. Much CO is formed initially, and if insufficient time is allowed for the WGS reaction to convert the CO to CO_2 , then the CO concentration exiting the reactor will be considerably higher than the equilibrium prediction.

Like plasma reactors, supercritical water reactors can be operated in methanol steam reforming without a catalyst (although the metal reactor walls provide at least some catalytic activity). This approach has been demonstrated by a number of research groups, but due to the higher temperatures required for supercritical operation (400–700 °C), the resulting CO levels are much higher than those in the traditional catalytic steam reforming approach. In addition, methanation of the carbon species is also favored by the high pressures and longer residence times characteristic of the supercritical reactors. More details on the reactors and experiments can be found by consulting the works of Gupta,^{299–301} Boukis,^{302–304} and Rice.^{305,306} The overall subject of methanol oxidation in supercritical water was recently reviewed by Vogel et al.³⁰⁷

Liquid-phase reforming of methanol has also been proposed as a means of hydrogen generation. The work of Dumesic and co-workers has demonstrated the utility of liquid-phase reforming of several oxygenated bioderived molecules, such as glucose, sorbitol, and glycerol.¹¹³ Within the conduct of this work, they also demonstrated the liquid-phase reforming of methanol at 225–275 °C and 29–56 bar,

with no reported CO formation in the product gas. The reaction was conducted over a Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst at very low space velocity (0.008 $g_{CH_3OH} g_{cat}^{-1} h^{-1}$).¹¹³ In batch experiments with various silica-supported catalysts, Miyao et al. experienced similarly long reaction times, on the order of 300 min.³⁰⁸ Unlike the Dumesic group, though, they saw significant quantities of CO produced, even at the low temperatures of operation (77–102 °C). Additionally, a European patent describes the liquid-phase reforming of methanol at 0.1–24 MPa and 50–240 °C over a Cu catalyst that includes oxides of Zn, Al, and Cr.³⁰⁹

5. Summary and Future Prospects

Methanol steam reforming for hydrogen production continues to be an active area of research. With much progress already achieved, there are still many problems yet to solve. While interest in methanol as a PEM fuel cell fuel has remained strong, there seems to be a shift of focus away from automotive applications and a sustained emphasis on portable and small power applications. In the higher power range (\gg 1 kW), methanol has several disadvantages relative to logistics fuels (e.g., JP-8, diesel) or infrastructure fuels (gasoline, LPG, NG), especially with regard to distribution network and energy density. On the low power side (<100 W), where the simplicity of methanol provides an advantage, RMFCs must compete with advanced battery technology and DMFCs, both of which are further developed than RMFC units in general. Furthermore, at these low power levels, BOP considerations become increasingly important. As a result, RMFC units are likely to make their mark on the portable power space in the 100-1000 W power range, where the fuel can be treated like a prepackaged consumable and where BOP availability is not as limited. The military will continue to show interest in RMFC devices, even if only as a shortterm solution, with the longer-term focus being on heavy fuels like JP-8 and diesel. Commercial markets may accept RMFCs (and DMFCs, for that matter) only if price points can be brought down considerably.

Continued technical advancements will be needed in either case. As seen in section 3, catalyst development has been a big focus area for methanol reforming researchers, but much more work remains. If Cu-based catalysts are to be used successfully in the long term, the deactivation and sintering issues need to be addressed. Alternatively, the Pd alloy formulations being developed could solve many of these problems. However, regardless of the catalyst formulation used, other tangential factors need to be addressed, such as potential poisoning or passivation of the catalyst due to trace contaminants over long operational times. These contaminants could come from several sources, including the methanol fuel, the water (carried or recycled), and even the environment in which these devices are stored and operated.

Reactor and system development activities by groups around the world have demonstrated the ability to conduct methanol reforming at small and large scale, at high efficiencies, and for a host of applications. Consequently, material selection and system design vary widely, from the very small metal, glass, or ceramic microreactors to the largescale, high pressure, membrane-based hydrogen generators. Catalyst deployment methods used have included traditional packed-bed reactors, monolith reactors, and wall-coated channels, each with its demonstrated advantages and disadvantages. In this case, one size does not fit all. For each application, the method of catalyst deployment will depend on a number of factors, including price, application, user, reactor type, power output, and the developer's predispositions.

Efforts in developing microchannel-based devices for methanol steam reforming and its associated unit operations have proven successful. The interleaving of combustion and reforming channels has been shown to provide a very compact device with high efficiency. In this type of deployment, though, fabrication can become quite complex and expensive if not designed for manufacturing from the early stages. Likewise, several developers have shown the promise of methanol reforming in a Pd-membrane reactor configuration, with the resultant pure H_2 to feed to the fuel cell. These developers will need to address cost and weight issues before full deployment and acceptance can be expected, but they have definitely made an impression through the public demonstration of prototype units at the various conferences and expos that relate to fuel cell power.

Methanol reforming will continue to be an active area of research, even if it only serves as an initial step on the road to fuel cells powered by gasoline, diesel, or JP-8. Military interest continues to be driven by a need for higher energy density power sources, as they must provide the soldier with more power without increasing his already large burden. Methanol reforming is a step to get there. Commercial applications, if successful, could see methanol become the next "propane", where it is sold in single-use containers at retail outlets for use in portable fuel cell units. This scenario is still years away, but if developers can establish an acceptance of methanol as a useful fuel and can establish a market for personal and recreational fuel cell power systems, then this is not an outlandish idea. Ultimately, the market, both military and commercial, will determine where methanol reforming goes from here. In the meantime, researchers and developers will continue to explore the possibilities, hoping to hit upon an additional breakthrough that will bring this important technology closer to commercial application.

6. Acronyms

APU	auxiliary power unit
ATR	autothermal reforming
BOP	balance of plant
DARPA	defense advanced research projects agency
DEFC	direct ethanol fuel cell
DFAFC	direct formic acid fuel cell
DMFC	direct methanol fuel cell
LHV	lower heating value
LPG	liquefied petroleum gas
mA	milliamps
MEMS	microelectromechanical systems
mV	millivolts
MTBE	methyl <i>tert</i> -butyl ether
NG	natural gas
OCV	open circuit voltage
OSRM	oxidative steam reforming of methanol
PDA	personal digital assistant
PEM	polymer electrolyte membrane
PEMFC	polymer electrolyte membrane fuel cell
POx	partial oxidation
RMFC	reformed methanol fuel cell
S/C	steam-to-carbon ratio
slpm	standard liters per minute
SOFC	solid oxide fuel cell
SR	steam reforming
TPR	temperature-programmed reduction
V	volts

- W_{th} watts thermal
- WGS water-gas shift
- XPS X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy
- XRD X-ray diffraction
- YDC yttria-doped ceria

7. References

- (1) http://www.fuelcelltoday.com, accessed December 5, 2006.
- (2) Based on a Chemical Abstracts search using the keywords "methanol" and "steam reforming", conducted June, 2007
- (3) Heffner, W. H.; Veverka, A. C.; Skaperdas, G. T. ACS Symp. Ser. 1965, 47, 318.
- Bostic, E.; Sifer, N.; DuBois, T.; Bolton, C. J. Fuel Cell Sci. Technol. 2004, 1, 69.
- (5) Bolton, C. 3rd Annual Tactical Power Sources Summit; IDGA: Washington, DC, 2006.
- Cheng, W. H.; Kung, H. H. In Methanol Production and Use; Cheng, W. H., Kung, H. H., Eds.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1994.
- (7) Dolan, G. In 15th International Symposium on Alcohol Fuels, San Diego, CA, 2005.
- (8) Satterfield, C. Heterogeneous Catalysis in Industrial Practice, 2nd ed.; Krieger Publishing Company: Malabar, FL, 1996.
- (9) Maack, M.; Henriette, F.; Sckerl, S.; Larsen, J.; Chorkendorff, I. Top. Catal. 2003, 22, 151.
- (10) Rozovskii, A.; Lin, G. Top. Catal. 2003, 22, 137.
- (11) Bart, S.; Sneeden, R. Catal. Today 1987, 2, 99.
- (12) World Methanol Supply/Demand; Methanol Institute: 2006.
- (13) Jordan, J., Jim Jordan and Associates, Personal communication, 2006.
- (14) Short, G. D. In Methanol Production and Use; Cheng, W. H., Kung, H. H., Eds.; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1994.
- (15) Palo, D. R.; Holladay, J. D.; Dagle, R. A.; Chin, Y.-H. ACS Symp. Ser. 2005, 914, 209.
- (16) Bosen, S. F.; Bowles, W. A.; Ford, E. A.; Perlson, B. D. Antifreezes. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2005. Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 87th ed.; Taylor and Francis: 2007.
- (17) Joensen, F.; Rostrup-Neilson, J. R. J. Power Sources 2002, 105, 195.
- (18) Trimm, D.; Onsan, Z. Catal. Rev. 2001, 43, 39.
 (19) Brown, L. F. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2001, 26, 381.
- (20) Schimmel, D. In 3rd Tactical Power Sources Summit; IDGA: Washington, DC, 2006.
- (21) Prigent, M.; Sugier, A.; Bloch, O. Abh. Saechs. Akad. Wiss. Leipzig, Math. Naturwiss. Kl. 1968, 49, 267.
- (22) Siemens A.-G.: FR Pat. 1595987, 1970.
- (23) Dixon, A. G.; Houston, A. C.; Johnson, J. K. Proc. Intersoc. Energy Convers. Eng. Conf. 1972, 1084.
- (24) Kurpit, S. S. Proc. Intersoc. Energy Convers. Eng. Conf. 1975, 222.
- (25) Amphlett, J. C.; Mann, R. F.; Peppley, B. A. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 1996, 21, 673.
- (26) Ghenciu, A. F. Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci. 2002, 6, 389.
- (27) Farrauto, R.; Hwang, S.; Shore, L.; Ruettinger, W.; Lampert, J.; Giroux, T.; Liu, Y.; Ilinich, O. Ann. Rev. Mater. Res. 2003, 33, 1.
- (28) Holladay, J. D.; Wang, Y.; Jones, E. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 4767. (29) Palo, D. R.; Stenkamp, V. S.; Dagle, R. A.; Jovanovic, G. N. In
- Advanced Micro and Nanosystems: Micro Process Engineering; Kockman, N., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2006; Vol. 5.
- (30) Fuel Cell Technology Handbook; Hoogers, G., Ed.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, 2003.
- (31) Fuel Cells for Portable Power: Markets, Manufacture and Cost. Darnell Group Inc.: 2003.
- (32) Holladay, J. D.; Viswanathan, V. V. In Encyclopedia of Chemical Processing; Lee, S., Ed.; Dekker: 2005.
- (33) Holladay, J. D.; Wainright, J. S.; Jones, E. O.; Gano, S. R. J. Power Sources 2004, 130, 111
- (34) van den Oosterkamp, P. F.; Goorse, A. A.; Blomen, L. J. M. J. J. Power Sources 1993, 41, 239.
- (35) Song, S.; Douvartzides, S.; Tsiakaras, P. J. Power Sources 2005, 145, 502.
- (36) Ishihara, A.; Mitsushima, S.; Kamiya, N.; Ota, K.-I. J. Power Sources 2004, 126, 34.
- (37) De Groot, A.; Woudstra, N. J. Inst. Energy 1995, 68, 32.
- (38) Liu, H.; Song, C.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, J.; Wang, H.; Wilkinson, D. P. J. Power Sources 2006, 155, 95.
- (39) Patil, A. S.; Dubois, T. G.; Sifer, N.; Bostic, E.; Gardner, K.; Quah, M.; Bolton, C. J. Power Sources 2004, 136, 220.
- (40) Zawodzinski, T. A., Jr.; Springer, T. E.; Davey, J.; Jestel, R.; Lopez, C.; Valerio, J.; Gottesfeld, S. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1993, 140, 1981.
- (41) Meyers, J. P.; Maynard, H. L. J. Power Sources 2002, 109, 76.
- (42) Cao, C.; Xia, G.; Holladay, J.; Jones, E.; Wang, Y. Appl. Catal., A 2004, 262, 19.

- (43) TeGrotenhuis, W. E.; Stenkamp, S.; Twitchell, A. ACS Symp. Ser. 2005, 914, 360.
- (44) Holladay, J. D.; Jones, E. O.; Dagle, R. A.; Xia, G. G.; Cao, C.; Wang, Y. J. Power Sources 2004, 131, 69.
- (45)Holladay, J. D.; Jones, E. O.; Phelps, M.; Hu, J. J. Power Sources 2002, 108, 21.
- (46) Cominos, V.; Hardt, S.; Hessel, V.; Kolb, G.; Löwe, H.; Wichert, M.; Zapf, R. 6th International conference on microreaction technology, New Orleans, LA, 2002; p 113.
- (47) Dyer, C. K. 7th Grove Fuel Cell Symposium, Grove VII, Sep 11-13, 2001, London, 2002; p 31.
- (48) Gervasio, D.; Rogers, S.; Koripella, R.; Tasic, S.; Zindel, D.; Changrani, R.; Dyer, C. K.; Hallmark, J.; Wilcox, D. Ceram. Trans. 2002, 127, 157.
- (49) Hoehlein, B.; Boe, M.; Bogild-Hansen, J.; Broeckerhoff, P.; Colsman, G.; Emonts, B.; Menzer, R.; Riedel, E. J. Power Sources 1996, 61, 143.
- (50) Olah, G. A. Catal. Lett. 2004, 93, 1.
- (51) Olah, G. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 2636.
- (52) Steinberg, M.; Salzano, F. J.; Beller, M.; Manowitz, B. NTG-Fachber. 1974, 2, 19.
- (53) Eccles, L. Electron. Des. 2001, 49, 27.
- (54) Gardner, K. 3rd Annual International Symposium on Small Fuel Cells and Battery Technologies for Portable Power Applications, Washington, DC, 2001.
- Wattenbarger, J. F. Proceedings of the 1994 IEEE MILCOM. Part 1 of 3, Oct 2–5 1994, Long Branch, NJ, 1994; p 202. (55)
- (56) Powerful Challenges: A view on the evolving state of powering technologies for soldier-borne equipment. Janes Strategic Advisory Services, 2004.
- (57) Bostic, E.; Sifer, N.; Bolton, C.; Ritter, U.; Dubois, T. J. Power Sources 2004, 137, 76.
- (58) Moore, J. M.; Adcock, P. L.; Lakeman, J. B.; Mepsted, G. O. J. Power Sources 2000, 85, 254.
 (59) Wasmus, S.; Kuever, A. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1999, 461, 14.
- (60) Hogarth, M. In Fuel Cell Technology Handbook; Hoogers, G., Ed.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, 2003.
- (61) Scott, K.; Taama, W. M.; Argyropoulos, P.; Sundmacher, K. J. Power Sources 1999, 83, 204.
- (62) Nguyen, N.-T.; Chan, S. H. J. Micromech. Microeng. 2006, 16, 1.
- (63) Liu, X.; Suo, C.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, X.; Sun, C.; Li, L.; Zhang, L. J.
- Micromech. Microeng. 2006, 16, 226.
- (64) Heinzel, A.; Barragan, V. M. J. Power Sources 1999, 84, 70. (65) Zhou, W. J.; Song, S. Q.; Li, W. Z.; Zhou, Z. H.; Sun, G. Q.; Xin,
- Q.; Douvartzides, S.; Tsiakaras, P. J. Power Sources 2005, 140, 50.
- (66) Jiang, L. H.; Zang, H. X.; Sun, G. Q.; Xin, Q. Chin. J. Catal. 2006, 27, 15.
- (67) Tanaka, S.; Umeda, M.; Ojima, H.; Usui, Y.; Kimura, O.; Uchida, I. J. Power Sources 2005, 152, 34.
- (68) Liu, Z. L.; Ling, X. Y.; Su, X. D.; Lee, J. Y.; Gan, L. M. J. Power Sources 2005, 149, 1.
- (69) Zhu, Y. M.; Khan, Z.; Masel, R. I. J. Power Sources 2005, 139, 15.
- (70) Zhu, Y. M.; Ha, S. Y.; Masel, R. I. J. Power Sources 2004, 130, 8.
- (71) Rice, C.; Ha, S.; Masel, R. I.; Wieckowski, A. J. Power Sources 2003, 115, 229.
- (72) Rice, C.; Ha, R. I.; Masel, R. I.; Waszczuk, P.; Wieckowski, A.; Barnard, T. J. Power Sources 2002, 111, 83.
- (73)Larsen, R.; Zakzeski, J.; Masel, R. I. Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 2005, 8, A291.
- (74) de Leon, C. P.; Walsh, F. C.; Pletcher, D.; Browning, D. J.; Lakeman, J. B. J. Power Sources 2006, 155, 172.
- (75) Shen, J.; Xi, J.; Zhu, W.; Chen, L.; Qiu, X. J. Power Sources 2006, 159, 894.
- (76) Hill, M. L.; Kim, Y. S.; Einsla, B. R.; McGrath, J. E. J. Membr. Sci. 2006, 283, 102.
- Smitha, B.; Sridhar, S.; Khan, A. A. J. Power Sources 2006, 159, (77)846.
- Li, W.; Wang, X.; Chen, Z.; Waje, M.; Yan, Y. J. Phys. Chem. B (78)2006, 110, 15353
- Shao, Z.-G.; Zhu, F.; Lin, W.-F.; Christensen, P. A.; Zhang, H.; Yi, B. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2006, 153, 1575.
- (80) Deshpande, K.; Mukasyan, A.; Varma, A. J. Power Sources 2006, 158, 60.
- Srinivasan, S.; Davé, B. B.; Murugesamoorthi, K. A.; Parthasarathy, (81)A.; Appleby, A. J. In Fuel Cell Systems; Blomen, L. J. M. J., Mugerwa, M. N., Eds.; Plenum Press: New York, 1993.
- (82) Jeon, M. K.; Lee, K. R.; Oh, K. S.; Hong, D. S.; Won, J. Y.; Li, S.; Woo, S. I. J. Power Sources 2006, 158, 1344.
- (83) Liu, J.; Zhou, Z.; Zhao, X.; Xin, Q.; Sun, G.; Yi, B. Phys. Chem., Chem. Phys. 2004, 6, 134.
- Thomas, S. C.; Ren, X.; Gottesfeld, S.; Zelenay, P. Electrochim. Acta 2002, 47, 3741.
- (85) Zhang, L.; Mukerjee, S. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2006, 153, 1062.

- (86) Ha, S.; Larsen, R.; Masel, R. I. J. Power Sources 2005, 144, 28.
- (87) Catalyst Handbook, 2nd ed.; Twigg, M. W., Ed.; Wolfe Publishing Ltd.: London, 1989.
- (88) King, D. L.; Brooks, K. P.; Fischer, C. M.; Pederson, L.; Rawlings, G.; Stenkamp, S. V.; TeGrotenhuis, W.; Wegeng, R.; Whyatt, G. A. ACS Symp. Ser. 2005, 914, 119.
- (89) Rostrup-Nielsen, J. In Encyclopedia of Catalysis; Horvath, I. T., Ed.; Wiley-Interscience: 2003; Vol. 4.
 (90) Song, C. S. *Catal. Today* 2002, 77, 17.
- (91) Babich, I. V.; Moulijn, J. A. Fuel 2003, 82, 607.
- (92) Song, C. Catal. Today 2003, 86, 211.
- (93) Song, C.; Ma, X. Appl. Catal., B 2003, 41, 207.
- (94) Yu, X.-Z.; Dong, Z.-G.; Ren, X.-Q.; Wang, J.; Wang, Y.-R. J. Fuel Chem. Technol. 2005, 33, 372
- (95) Burnett, P. T.; Huff, G. A.; Pradhan, V. R.; Hodges, M.; Glassett, J. A.; McDaniel, S. G.; Hurst, P. The European Refining Technology Conference, Rome, Italy, 2000.
- (96) Pietrogrande, P.; Bezzeccheri, M. In Fuel Cell Systems; Blomen, L. J. M. J., Mugerwa, M. N., Eds.; Plenum Press: New York, 1993.
- (97) Adris, A. M.; Pruden, B. B. Can. J. Chem. Eng. 1996, 74, 177.
- (98) Hohn, K. L.; Schmidt, L. D. Appl. Catal., A 2001, 211, 53.
- (99) Krummenacher, J. J.; West, K. N.; Schmidt, L. D. J. Catal. 2003, 215, 332.
- (100) Pino, L.; Recupero, V.; Beninati, S.; Shukla, A. K.; Hegde, M. S.; Bera, P. Appl. Catal., A 2002, 225, 63.
- (101) Krumpelt, M. Joinit DOE/ONR Fuel Cell Workshop, Baltimore, MD, 1999.
- (102) Krumpelt, M.; Krause, T. R.; Carter, J. D.; Kopasz, J. P.; Ahmed, S. Catal. Today 2002, 77, 3.
- (103) Bellows, R. J. Joint DOE/ONR Fuel Cell Workshop, Baltimore, MD, 1999.
- (104) Muradov, N. J. Power Sources 2003, 118, 320.
- (105) Guo, Y.-S.; Fang, W.-J.; Lin, R.-S. J. Zhejiang Univ. 2005, 39, 538.
- (106) Biniwale, R. B.; Mizuno, A.; Ichikawa, M. Appl. Catal., A 2004, 276, 169.
- (107) Bromberg, L.; Cohn, D. R.; Rabinovich, A.; Alexeev, N. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 1999, 24, 1131.
- (108) O'Brien, C. J.; Hochgreb, S.; Rabinovich, A.; Bromberg, L.; Cohn, D. R. Energy Conversion Engineering Conference, Washington, DC; IEEE: Piscataway, NJ, 1996; p 1747.
- (109) Paulmier, T.; Fulcheri, L. Chem. Eng. J. 2005, 106, 59.
- (110) Czernichowski, A.; Czernichowski, M.; Wesolowska, K. Hydrogen and Fuel Cells Conference and Trade Show, Vancouver, Canada, June 8-11, 2003, postconference CD proceedings, 8 pp.
- (111) Sekiguchi, H.; Mori, Y. Thin Solid Films; Elsevier: Jeju Island, South Korea, 2003; p 44.
- (112) Cortright, R. D. US Pat. Appl. 2006.
- (113) Cortright, R. D.; Davda, R. R.; Dumesic, J. A. Nature (London) 2002, 418, 964.
- (114) Davda, R. R.; Dumesic, J. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 4068.
- (115) Metkemeijer, R.; Achard, P. J. Power Sources 1994, 49, 271.
- (116) Wojcik, A.; Middleton, H.; Damopoulos, I.; Van herle, J. J. Power Sources 2003, 118, 342
- (117) Chum, H. L.; Overend, R. P. Fuel Process. Technol. 2001, 71, 187.
- (118) Chen, G.; Lv, X.; Li, Q.; Deng, N.; Jiao, L. Proceedings of the ASME Turbo Expo 2004, Vienna, Austria; American Society of Mechanical Engineers: New York, 2004; p 711.
- (119) Demirbas, A.; Demirbas, M. F. Energy Sources 2003, 25, 317.
- (120) Hao, X.; Guo, L. Huagong Xuebao 2002, 53, 221.
- (121) Asadullah, M.; Ito, S.-I.; Kunimori, K.; Yamada, M.; Tomishige, K. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2002, 36, 4476.
- (122) Kapdan, I. K.; Kargi, F. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 2006, 38, 569.
- (123) Levin, D. B.; Zhu, H.; Beland, M.; Cicek, N.; Holbein, B. E. Bioresour. Technol. 2007, 98, 654.
 (124) Norbeck, J. M.; Heffel, J. W.; Durbin, T. D.; Tabbara, B.; Bowden,
- J. M.; Montani, M. C. Hydrogen Fuel for Surface Transportation; Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc.: Warrendale, PA, 1996.
- (125) Pettersson, J.; Ramsey, B.; Harrison, D. J. Power Sources 2006, 157, 28
- (126) Grigoriev, S. A.; Porembsky, V. I.; Fateev, V. N. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2006, 31, 171.
- (127) Steinfeld, A. Sol. Energy 2005, 78, 603.
- (128) Funk, J. E. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2001, 26, 185.
- (129) Aroutiounian, V. M.; Arakelyan, V. M.; Shahnazaryan, G. E. Sol. Energy 2005, 78, 581.
- (130) Zhang, J.; Fisher, T. S.; Ramachandran, P. V.; Gore, J. P.; Mudawar, I. J. Heat Transfer 2005, 127, 1391.
- (131) Amendola, S. C.; Sharp-Goldman, S. L.; Janjua, M. S.; Kelly, M. T.; Petillo, P. J.; Binder, M. J. Power Sources 2000, 85, 186.
- (132) Amendola, S. C.; Sharp-Goldman, S. L.; Janjua, M. S.; Spencer, N. C.; Kelly, M. T.; Petillo, P. J.; Binder, M. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2000, 25, 969.

- (133) Fakiouglu, E.; Yurum, Y.; Nejat Veziroglu, T. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2004, 29, 1371.
- (134) Gervasio, D.; Tasic, S.; Zenhausern, F. J. Power Sources 2005, 149, 15.
- (135) Jacobs, G.; Davis, B. H. Appl. Catal., A 2005, 285, 43.
- (136) Peppley, B.; Amphlett, J.; Kearns, A.; Mann, R. Appl. Catal., A 1999, 179, 21.
- (137) Peppley, B. A.; Amphlett, J. C.; Kearns, L. M.; Mann, R. F. Appl. Catal., A 1999, 179, 31.
- (138) Agrell, J.; Birgersson, H.; Boutonnet, M. J. Power Sources 2002, 106.249
- (139) Lindstrom, B.; Pettersson, L. J. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2001, 26, 923.
- (140) Huang, X.; Ma, L.; Wainwright, M. Appl. Catal., A 2004, 257, 235.
- (141) Agarwal, V.; Patel, S.; Pant, K. K. Appl. Catal., A 2005, 279, 155. (142) Utaka, T.; Okanishi, T.; Takeguchi, R.; Kikuchi, R.; Eguchi, K. Appl.
- Catal., A 2003, 245, 343.
- (143) Twigg, M.; Spencer, M. Top. Catal. 2003, 22, 192.
- (144) Iwasa, N.; Takezawa, N. Top. Catal. 2003, 22, 220.
- (145) Hughs, R. Deactivation of Catalysts; Academic Press: New York, 1994.
- (146) Liu, Y.; Hayakawa, T.; Tsunoda, T.; Suzuki, K.; Hamakawa, S.; Murata, K.; Shiozaki, R.; Ishii, T.; Kumagai, M. Top. Catal. 2003, 22, 205
- (147) Patel, S.; Pant, K. K. J. Power Sources 2006, 159, 139.
- (148) Cheng, W.; Chen, I.; Liou, J.; Lin, S. Top. Catal. 2003, 22, 225.
- (149) Yong-Feng, L.; Xin-Fa, D.; Wei-Ming, L. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2004, 29, 1617.
- (150) Szizybalski, A.; Girgsdies, F.; Rabis, A.; Wang, Y.; Niederberger, M.; Ressler, T. J. Catal. 2005, 233, 297.
- (151) Ritzkopf, I.; Vukojevic, S.; Weidenthaler, C.; Grunwaldt, J.; Schuth, F. Appl. Catal., A 2006, 302, 215.
- (152) Oguchi, H.; Nishiguchi, T.; Matsumoto, T.; Kanai, H.; Utani, K.; Matsumura, Y.; Imamura, S. Appl. Catal., A 2005, 281, 69.
- (153) Velu, S.; Suzuki, K.; Osaki, T. Chem. Commun. 1999, 2341.
- (154) Velu, S.; Suzuki, K.; Okazaki, M.; Kapoor, M. P.; Osaki, T.; Ohashi, F. J. Catal. 2000, 194, 373.
- (155) Velu, S.; Suzuki, K.; Kapoor, M.; Ohashi, F.; Osaki, T. Appl. Catal., A 2001, 213, 47.
- (156) Ma, L.; Gong, B.; Tran, T.; Wainwright, M. Catal. Today 2000, 63, 499.
- (157) Manzoli, M.; Chiorino, A.; Boccuzzi, F. Appl. Catal., B 2004, 57, 201.
- (158) Tanabe, T.; Kameoka, S.; Tsai, A. Catal. Today 2006, 111, 153.
- (159) Takahashi, T.; Inoue, M.; Kai, T. Appl. Catal., A 2001, 218, 189.
- (160) Papavasiliou, J.; Avgouropoulos, G.; Ioannides, T. Catal. Commun. 2005, 6, 497.
- (161) Turco, M.; Bagnasco, G.; Costantino, U.; Marmottini, F.; Montanari, T.; Ramis, G.; Busca, G. J. Catal. 2004, 228, 43.
- (162) Busca, G.; Constantino, U.; Marmottini, F.; Mantanari, T.; Patrono, P.; Pinzari, F.; Ramis, G. Appl. Catal., A 2006, 310, 70.
- (163) Kniep, B.; Girgsdies, F.; Ressler, T. J. Catal. 2005, 236, 34.
- (164) Shen, J.; Song, C. *Catal. Today* 2002, *77*, 89.
 (165) Kawamura, Y.; Yamamoto, K.; Ogura, N.; Katsumata, T.; Igarashi, A. J. Power Sources 2005, 150, 20.
- (166) Valdés-Solís, T.; Marban, G.; Fuertes, A. Catal. Today 2006, 116, 354.
- (167) Iwasa, N.; Masuda, S.; Ogawa, N.; Takezawa, N. Appl. Catal., A 1995, 125, 145.
- (168) Takezawa, N.; Iwasa, N. Catal. Today 1997, 36, 45.
- (169) Iwasa, N.; Tomoyuki, M.; Masuda, S.; Takezawa, N. React. Kinet. Catal. Lett. 2000, 69, 355.
- (170) Iwasa, N.; Mayanagi, T.; Wataru, N.; Arai, M.; Takewasa, T. Appl. Catal., A 2003, 248, 153
- (171) Chin, Y.-H.; Dagle, R.; Hu, J.; Dohnalkova, A. C.; Wang, Y. Catal. Today 2002, 77, 79
- (172) Chin, Y. H.; Wang, Y.; Dagle, R. A.; Li, X. S. Fuel Process. Technol. 2003, 83, 193.
- (173) Dagle, R.; Chin, Y.-H.; Wang, Y. Top. Catal., submitted.
- (174) Xia, G.; Holladay, J. D.; Dagle, R. A.; Jones, E. O.; Wang, Y. Chem. Eng. Technol. 2005, 28, 515.
- (175) Ranganathan, E.; Bej, S.; Thompson, L. Appl. Catal., A 2005, 289, 153.
- (176) Tsai, A.; Kameoka, S.; Ishii, Y. J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 2004, 73, 3270. (177) Suwa, Y.; Ito, S.; Kameoka, S.; Tomishige, K.; Kunimori, K. Appl. Catal., A 2004, 267, 9.
- (178) Karim, A.; Conant, T.; Datye, A. J. Catal. 2006, 243, 420.
- (179) Agrell, J.; Germani, G.; Jaras, S.; Boutonnet, M. Appl. Catal., A 2003, 242, 233
- (180) Penner, S.; Jenewein, B.; Gabasch, H.; Klotzer, B.; Wang, D.; Knop-Gericke, A.; Schlogl, R.; Hayek, K. J. Catal. 2006, 241, 14.
- (181) Pfeifer, P.; Schubert, K.; Liauw, M. A.; Emig, G. Appl. Catal., A 2004, 270, 165.

- (182) Pfeifer, P.; Koelbl, A.; Schubert, K. Catal. Today 2005, 110, 76.
- (183) Cubeiro, M.; Fierro, J. Appl. Catal., A 1998, 168, 307.
- (184) Lenarda, M.; Moretti, E.; Storaro, L.; Patrono, P.; Pinzari, F.; Rodriguez-Castellon, E.; Jimenez-Lopez, A.; Busca, G.; Finocchio, E.; Montanari, T.; Frattini, R. Appl. Catal., A 2006, 312, 220.
- (185) Chen, G.; Li, S.; Yuan, Q. Catal. Today 2007, 120, 63.
- (186) Lyubovsky, M.; Roychoudhury, S. Appl. Catal., B 2004, 54, 203. (187) Christiansen, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1921, 43, 1670.
- (188) Patil, A. S.; Jacobs, R. IEEE Aerospace Electr. Syst. Mag. 2000, 15,
- 35
- (189) Palo, D. R.; Holladay, J. D.; Rozmiarek, R. T.; Guzman-Leong, C. E.; Wang, Y.; Hu, J.; Chin, Y.-H.; Dagle, R. A.; Baker, E. G. J. Power Sources 2002, 108, 28.
- (190) Changrani, R.; Gervasio, D.; Koripella, R.; Rogers, S. P.; Samms, S. R.; Tasic, S. 6th International conference on microreaction technology, New Orleans, LA, 2002; p 108.
- (191) Koripella, C. R.; Dyer, C. K.; Gervasio, D. F.; Rogers, S. P.; Wilcox, D.; Ooms, W. J.; Motorola, Inc. U.S. Patent 6,569,553, 2003.
- (192) Koripella, C. R.; Dyer, C. K.; Rogers, S. P.; Gervasio, D. F.; Motorola, Inc. U.S. Patent 7,048,897, 2006.
- (193) Koripella, C. R.; Tasic, S. U.S. Pat. Appl., 2003.(194) Hallmark, J.; Samms, S.; Castellano, C.; Liu, Y. Fuel Cell Seminar, Honolulu, Hawaii, 2006.
- (195) Terazaki, T.; Nomura, M.; Takeyama, K.; Nakamura, O.; Yamamoto, T. J. Power Sources 2005, 145, 691.
- (196) Shiotani, M.; Casio Computer Co., Ltd., Japan. JP Pat. Appl., 2003.
- (197) Kawamura, Y.; Igarashi, A. Shokubai 2006, 48, 302
- (198) Yamamoto, T.; Takeyama, H.; Casio Computer Co., Ltd., Japan. JP Pat. Appl., 2005.
- (199) Kawamura, Y.; Ogura, N.; Yahata, T.; Yamamoto, K.; Terazaki, T.; Yamamoto, T.; Igarashi, A. J. Chem. Eng. Jpn. 2005, 38, 854.
- (200) Kawamura, Y.; Ogura, N.; Yamamoto, T.; Igarashi, A. Chem. Eng. Sci. 2006, 61, 1092.
- (201) Edlund, D. J.; Laven, A.; Mace, T. G.; Pledger, W. A.; Studebaker, R. T.; Wambaugh, D. J. US Pat. Appl., 2003.
- (202) Edlund, D. Fuel Cell Seminar, Palm Springs, CA, 2005.
- (203) DeVries, D. Fuel Cell Seminar, Palm Springs, CA, 2005.
- (204) Park, H. G.; Piggott, W. T.; Chung, J.; Morse, J. D.; Havstad, M.; Grigoropoulos, C. P.; Greif, R.; Benett, W.; Sopchak, D.; Upadhye, R. Towards a Greener World, Conference Proceedings, Hydrogen and Fuel Cells Conference and Trade Show, Vancouver, BC, Canada, June 8-11, 2003; p 269.
- (205) Upadhye, R. S.; Morse, J. D.; Sopchak, D. A.; Havstad, M. A.; Graff, R. T. PCT Int. Appl., 2005.
- (206) Hessel, V. In Micro-Instrumentation for High Throughput Experimentation and Process Intensification; Koch, M., VandenBussche, K., Chrisman, R., Eds.; Wiley-VCH, to be published.
- (207) Palo, D. R.; Stenkamp, V. S.; Dagle, R. A.; Holladay, J. D.; Brooks, K. P.; Humble, P. H. In Micro-Instrumentation for High Throughput Experimentation and Process Intensification; Koch, M., Vanden-Bussche, K., Chrisman, R., Eds.; Wiley-VCH, to be published.
- (208) Holladay, J. D.; Jones, E. O.; Dagle, R. A.; Xia, G. G.; Cao, C.; Wang, Y. ACS Symp. Ser. 2005, 914, 162.
 (209) Cao, C.; Wang, Y.; Holladay, J. D.; Jones, E. O.; Palo, D. R. AIChE
- J. 2005, 51, 982.
- (210) Cominos, V.; Hardt, S.; Hessel, V.; Kolb, G.; Loewe, H.; Wichert, M.; Zapf, R. Chem. Eng. Commun. 2005, 192, 685.
- (211) Cominos, V.; Hessel, V.; Hofmann, C.; Kolb, G.; Pennemann, H.; Zapf, R. ACS Symp. Ser. 2005, 914, 194.
- (212) Kolb, G.; Hessel, V.; Cominos, V.; Pennemann, H.; Schuerer, J.; Zapf, R.; Loewe, H. J. Mater. Eng. Perform. 2006, 15, 389.
- (213) Men, Y.; Kolb, G.; Zapf, R.; Tiemann, D.; Wichert, M.; Hessel, V.; Lowe, H. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, submitted.
- (214) Delsman, E. R.; Laarhoven, B. J. P. F.; De Croon, M. H. J. M.; Kramer, G. J.; Schouten, J. C. Chem. Eng. Res. Des. 2005, 83, 1063.
- (215) Delsman, E. R.; Rebrov, E. V.; de Croon, M. H. J. M.; Schouten, J. C.; Kramer, G. J.; Cominos, V.; Richter, T.; Veenstra, T. T.; van den Berg, A.; Cobden, P. D.; de Bruijn, F. A.; D'Ortona, U.; Falk, L. 5th International conference on microreaction technology, Strasbourg, France, 2001; p 368.
- (216) Gloeckler, B.; Gritsch, A.; Morillo, A.; Kolios, G.; Eigenberger, G. Chem. Eng. Res. Des. 2004, 82, 148.
- (217) Morillo, A.; Freund, A.; Merten, C. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2004, 43, 4624.
- (218) Morillo, R.; Merten, C.; Eigenberger, G.; Hermann, I.; Lemken, D. Chem. Ing. Tech. 2003, 75, 68.
- (219) Reuse, P.; Renken, A.; Haas-Santo, K.; Gorke, O.; Schubert, K. Chem. Eng. J. 2004, 101, 133.
- (220) Pfeifer, P.; Schubert, K.; Fichtner, M.; Liauw, M. A.; Emig, G. 6th International conference on microreaction technology, New Orleans, LA, 2002; p 125.
- (221) Pfeifer, P.; Schubert, K.; Liauw, M. A.; Emig, G. Chem. Eng. Res. Des. 2003, 81, 711.

- (222) Palo, D. R.; Holladay, J. D.; Dagle, R. A.; Chin, Y. H.; Baker, E. G. American Institute of Chemical Engineers: 2nd Topical Conference on Fuel Cell Technology, New Orleans, LA, 2003; p 143.
- (223) Dagle, R. A.; Palo, D. R.; Holladay, J. D. Fuel Cell Seminar, San Antonio, TX, 2004.
- (224) Dagle, R.; Wang, Y.; Xia, G.; Strohm, J.; Palo, D.; Holladay, J. Appl. Catal., A 2007, 326, 213.
- (225) Palo, D. R.; Holladay, J. D. International Soldier Systems Conference, Boston, MA, 2004.
- (226) Yu, X.; Tu, S.-T.; Wang, Z.; Qi, Y. J. Power Sources 2005, 150, 57.
- (227) Yu, X.; Tu, S.-T.; Wang, Z.; Qi, Y. Chem. Eng. J. 2006, 116, 123.
- (228) Pan, L. W.; Wang, S. D. Chem. Eng. J. 2005, 108, 51
- (229) Pan, L. W.; Wang, S. D. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2005, 30, 973.
- (230) Pan, L. W.; Wang, S. D. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2006, 31, 447.
- (231) Lim, M. S.; Kim, M. R.; Noh, J.; Woo, S. I. J. Power Sources 2005, 140, 66
- (232) Won, J. Y.; Jun, H. K.; Jeon, M. K.; Woo, S. I. Catal. Today 2006, 111, 158.
- (233) Park, G. G.; Seo, D. J.; Park, S. H.; Yoon, Y. G.; Kim, C. S.; Yoon, W. L. Chem. Eng. J. 2004, 101, 87.
- (234) Park, G.-G.; Yim, S.-D.; Yoon, Y.-G.; Kim, C.-S.; Seo, D.-J.; Eguchi, K. Catal. Today 2005, 110, 108.
- (235) Park, G.-G.; Yim, S.-D.; Yoon, Y.-G.; Lee, W.-Y.; Kim, C.-S.; Seo, D.-J.; Eguchi, K. J. Power Sources 2005, 145, 702
- (236) Seo, D. J.; Yoon, W. L.; Yoon, Y. G.; Park, S. H.; Park, G. G.; Kim, C. S. Electrochim. Acta 2004, 50, 719.
- (237) Pattekar, A. V.; Kothare, M. V. US Pat. Appl., 2004.
- (238) Pattekar, A. V.; Kothare, M. V. J. MEMS 2004, 13, 7.
- (239) Pattekar, A. V.; Kothare, M. V. US Pat. Appl., 2004.
- (240) Pattekar, A. V.; Kothare, M. V. J. Power Sources 2005, 147, 116.
- (241) Pattekar, A. V.; Kothare, M. V.; Karnik, S. V.; Hatalis, M. K. 5th Internation conference on microreaction technology, Strasbourg France, 2001; p 332.
- (242) Park, H. G.; Malen, J. A.; Piggott, W. T., III; Morse, J. D.; Greif, R.; Grigoropoulos, C. P.; Havstad, M. A.; Upadhye, R. J. MEMS 2006, 15, 976.
- (243) Kwon, O. J.; Hwang, S.-M.; Ahn, J.-G.; Kim, J. J. J. Power Sources 2006, 156, 253.
- (244) Chang, K.-S.; Tanaka, S.; Esashi, M. J. Micromech. Microeng. 2005, 15, S171
- (245) Tanaka, S.; Chang, K.-S.; Min, K.-B.; Satoh, D.; Yoshida, K.; Esashi, M. Chem. Eng. J. 2004, 101, 143.
- (246) Kim, T.; Kwon, S. Chem. Eng. J. 2006, 123, 93.
- (247) Kim, T.; Kwon, S. J. Micromech. Microeng. 2006, 16, 1760.
- (248) Shah, K.; Ouyang, X.; Besser, R. S. Chem. Eng. Technol. 2005, 28, 303
- (249)Shin, Y.; Kim, O.; Hong, J.-C.; Oh, J.-H.; Kim, W.-J.; Haam, S.; Chung, C.-H. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2006, 31, 1925.
- (250) Johnson, W. L., II; Phillips, C. B.; Chen, Z.; Ransom, T. S.; Thompson, L. T., Jr. Abstracts of Papers, 226th ACS National Meeting, New York, September 7–11, 2003; CATL.
- (251) de Wild, P. J.; Verhaak, M. J. F. M. Catal. Today 2000, 60, 3.
- (252) Take, T.; Yachi, T.; Tomura, M.; Kameyama, H. J. Chem. Eng. Jpn. 2003, 36, 75.
- (253) Bravo, J.; Karim, A.; Conant, T.; Lopez, G. P.; Datye, A. Chem. Eng. J. 2004, 101, 113.
- (254) Karim, A.; Bravo, J.; Datye, A. Appl. Catal., A 2005, 282, 101.
- (255) Karim, A.; Bravo, J.; Gorm, D.; Conant, T.; Datye, A. Catal. Today 2005, 110, 86.
- (256) Samms, S. R.; Savinell, R. F. J. Power Sources 2002, 112, 13.
- (257) Wieland, I. S.; Melin, I. T.; Lamm, I. A. Chem. Eng. Sci. 2002, 57, 1571.
- (258) Paglieri, S. N.; Way, J. D. Sep. Purif. Methods 2002, 31, 1.
- (259) Gallucci, F.; Paturzo, L.; Basile, A. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2004, 43, 2420.
- (260) Basile, A.; Gallucci, F.; Paturzo, L. Catal. Today 2005, 104, 244.
- (261) Basile, A.; Tosti, S.; Capannelli, G.; Vitulli, G.; Iulianelli, A.; Gallucci, F.; Drioli, E. Catal. Today 2006, 118, 237.
- (262) Itoh, N.; Kaneko, Y.; Igarashi, A. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2002, 41, 4702
- (263) Basile, A.; Gallucci, F.; Paturzo, L. Catal. Today 2005, 104, 251.
- (264) Basile, A.; Tereschenko, G. F.; Orekhova, N. V.; Ermilova, M. M.; Gallucci, F.; Iulianelli, A. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2006, 31, 1615.
- (265) Nair, B. K. R.; Harold, M. P. Chem. Eng. Sci. 2006, 61, 6616. (266) Duesterwald, H. G. Investigation of a methanol reformer concept
- considering the particular impact of dynamics and long-time stability for use in a fuel-cell powered passenger car. Dissertation, Inst. Energieverfahrenstechnik, Forschungszentrum Juelich G.m.b.H., Juelich, Germany, 1997.
- (267) Duesterwald, H. G.; Hoehlein, B.; Kraut, H.; Meusinger, J.; Peters, R.; Stimming, U. Chem. Eng. Technol. 1997, 20, 617.
- (268) Emonts, B.; Bogild Hansen, J.; Loegsgaard Jorgensen, S.; Hohlein, B.; Peters, R. J. Power Sources 1998, 71, 288.

- (293) DeVries, D., Genesis Fueltech, personal communication.
 - (294) Erickson, P. A. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2006, 31, 1690.
 - (295) Perry, W. L.; Datye, A. K.; Prinja, A. K.; Brown, L. F.; Katz, J. D. AIChE J. 2002, 48, 820.
 - (296) Sekine, Y.; Urasaki, K.; Kado, S.; Matsukata, M.; Kikuchi, E. Energy Fuels 2004, 18, 455.
 - (297) Futamura, S.; Kabashima, H. Prepr. Symp.—Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Fuel Chem. 2003, 48, 816.
 - (298) Futamura, S.; Kabashima, H. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.* 2004, 40, 1459.
 (299) Byrd, A. J.; Gupta, R. B. *Abstracts of Papers*, 231st ACS National
 - Meeting, Atlanta, GA, March 26–30, 2006; PETR.
 (300) Gadhe, J. B.; Gupta, R. B. Prepr. Symp.—Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Fuel Chem. 2005, 50, 604.
 - (301) Gadhe, J. B.; Gupta, R. B. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2005, 44, 4577.
 - (302) Boukis, N.; Diem, V.; Galla, U.; Dinjus, E. Combust. Sci. Technol. 2006, 178, 467.
 - (303) Boukis, N.; Diem, V.; Habicht, W.; Dinjus, E. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2003, 42, 728.
 - (304) Boukis, N.; Habicht, W.; Franz, G.; Dinjus, E. Mater. Corros. 2003, 54, 326.
 - (305) Taylor, J. D.; Herdman, C. M.; Wu, B. C.; Wally, K.; Rice, S. F. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2003, 28, 1171.
 - (306) Wu, B. C.; Wally, K.; Rice, S. F.; Crocker, R. W. U.S. Pat. Appl. 20040221507, 2004.
 - (307) Vogel, F.; Blanchard, J. L. D.; Marrone, P. A.; Rice, S. F.; Webley, P. A.; Peters, W. A.; Smith, K. A.; Tester, J. W. *J. Supercrit. Fluids* **2005**, *34*, 249.
 - (308) Miyao, T.; Yamauchi, M.; Naito, S. Catal. Today 2003, 87, 227.
 - (309) Neilsen, P. E. H.; Perregaard, J.; Haldor Topsoe. Eur. Pat. 1533271, 2005.
 - (310) Liu, S.; Takahashi, K.; Fuchigami, K.; Uematsu, K. Appl. Catal. A 2005, 299, 58.
 - (311) Cominos, V.; Hessel, V.; Hofmann, C.; Kolb, G.; Zapf, R.; Ziogas, A.; Delsman, E. R.; Schouten, J. C. *Catal. Today* **2005**, *110*, 140. CR050198B

- (269) Peters, R.; Duesterwald, H. G.; Hoehlein, B. J. Power Sources 2000, 86, 507.
- (270) Wiese, W.; Emonts, B.; Peters, R. J. Power Sources 1999, 84, 187.
- (271) Lin, Y.-M.; Lee, G.-L.; Rei, M.-H. Catal. Today 1998, 44, 343.
- (272) Lin, Y.-M.; Rei, M.-H. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2000, 25, 211.
- (273) Lin, Y. M.; Rei, M. H. Catal. Today 2001, 67, 77.
- (274) Rei, M. H.; Tsui, C. K.; Pan, C. W.; Lin, Y. M. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 2003, 145, 103.
- (275) Rei, B. M. H.; Yeh, G. T.; Pan, C. W. Catal. Today 2004, 97, 167.
- (276) Han, J.; Kim, I. s.; Choi, K. S. *J. Power Sources* **2000**, *86*, 223. Note that most efficiency calculations are based on lower heating values instead of higher heating values.
- (277) Han, J.; Kim, I. S.; Choi, K. S. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 2002, 27, 1043.
- (278) Han, J.; Lee, S. M.; Chang, H. J. Power Sources 2002, 112, 484.
- (279) Buxbaum, R. E. Sep. Sci. Technol. 1999, 34, 2113.
- (280) Buxbaum, R. E. US Pat. 6,923,944, 2005.
- (281) See www.rebresearch.com for more information.
- (282) Arstad, B.; Venvik, H.; Klette, H.; Walmsley, J. C.; Tucho, W. M.; Holmestad, R.; Holmen, A.; Bredesen, R. *Catal. Today* **2006**, *118*, 63.
- (283) Zhang, X.; Hu, H.; Zhu, Y.; Zhu, S. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2006, 45, 7997.
- (284) Lee, D.-W.; Nam, S.-E.; Sea, B.; Ihm, S.-K.; Lee, K.-H. Catal. Today 2006, 118, 198.
- (285) Kikuchi, E.; Kawabe, S.; Matsukata, M. J. Jpn. Pet. Inst. 2003, 46, 93.
- (286) Edlund, D. Fuel Cells Bull. 1999, 2 (14), 8.
- (287) Edlund, D. J.; Pledger, W. A. Proceedings of the Fuel Cells '97 Review Meeting, NETL, 1997; p 7.6.
- (288) Edlund, D. U.S. Pat. 5,861,137, 1999.
- (289) Edlund, D.; Pledger, W. A. U.S. Pat. 5,997,594, 1999.
- (290) Edlund, D.; Pledger, W. A. U.S. Pat. 6,221,117, 2001.
- (291) Edlund, D.; Pledger, W. A.; Idatech, LLC. U.S. Pat. 6,783,741, 2004.
- (292) Ledjeff-Hey, K.; Formanski, V.; Kalk, T.; Roes, J. J. Power Sources 1998, 71, 199.